Characterization of the Urine Microbiome-Host Interaction

By

Robert Benson Weyant

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science

In

Translational Medicine

Department of Medicine

University of Alberta

© Robert Benson Weyant, 2024

Abstract

Background: The Human Microbiome is an area of increasing interest, both in and outside of the scientific community. While overall knowledge has increased exponentially, many aspects remain unclear, such as mechanisms of host-interaction and persistence.

Intracellular bacteria have previously been described in urothelial cells, but only as a mechanism for pathogen persistence in *E. coli*. Using the urinary microbiome as a model for the human microbiome, we set out to uncover, and better characterize the intracellular microbiome.

Methods: Participants without recent urinary tract infections or antibiotic use were enrolled in a cross-sectional study. We used several techniques to analyze voided urine samples from each participant to assess for intracellular bacteria. Imaging flow cytometry and volumetric flow cytometry were performed using antibodies against uroplakin III and Enterobacteriaceae common antigen (ECA). Scanning electron microscopy (SEM) also utilized anti-ECA antibody after lysing urothelial cells with sonication. Lastly, 16S rRNA metagenomic sequencing was performed with comparison to a reference library. Pairwise comparisons were conducted using the Wilcoxon rank sum test for continuous variables and the Fisher exact test for proportions. Microbiome analysis using the Qiime2 analysis package with alpha diversity calculated using four different methods: observed richness, Chao1, Shannon index and Simpson index. Beta diversity was calculated using both weighted UniFrac distances and Bray Curtis distances. Differential abundance was calculated using Analysis of Composition of Microbiomes with Bias Correction 2 (ANCOM-BC2).

Results: We recruited 20 participants of median age 38 (IQR 29-51) with diverse ethnic backgrounds between October-June 2022. Flow cytometry found evidence of intracellular

ii

bacteria in 20/20 (100%) participants. Females had a higher number of urothelial cells in their urine (42 cells/ μ L vs 5 cells/ μ L, p=0.03) but the proportion of cells containing bacteria was similar at 13.9% (p=0.65). Visualizing with SEM, we found evidence of bacteria in 20/20 (100%) participants. Polymicrobial communities were visualized in a majority of participants (17/20, 85%) and bacteria were aggregated in an extracellular matrix in 20/20 (100%) participants. Metagenomics confirmed the presence of polymicrobial communities in 20/20 (100%) participants and found significant correlation between the concentration of DNA in the intracellular component of urine and the number of urothelial cells containing bacteria (p<0.0001). There were significant differences in alpha diversity, beta diversity, relative abundance, and differential abundance when the extracellular and intracellular urine components were compared.

Conclusion: We found evidence of a significant intracellular component of the urinary microbiome in healthy individuals. Bacteria were found in 14% of urothelial cells and were visualized together in polymicrobial communities, likely embedded within a biofilm-like structure. The intracellular component was had differing alpha diversity, beta diversity, relative abundance, and difference abundance compared to the extracellular. This large intracellular component of the microbiome explains how the urine microbiome is able to persist within the human urinary tract with its flushing. Sex-based variations were also identified with beta diversity and differential abundance differing significantly between the intracellular components of males and females.

This is the first-time intracellular bacteria have been described in the urine of healthy individuals. While there are many future implications, this study demonstrates that the method of

iii

DNA extraction in microbiome analysis plays a massive role in any potential findings. Future studies on the human microbiome in any location, should evaluate for intracellular bacteria.

Preface

This thesis is an original work by Robert Benson Weyant. The research project, of which this thesis is a part, received research ethics approval from the University of Alberta Research Ethics Board, Project Name "IBC-5 - Healthy Urine Microbiome", No. Pro00124267, October 10th, 2022.

The experiments described were performed by myself and Dr. Carlos Cervera, with the exception of the 16S rRNA sequencing as described (section 2.7). This paper represents my original work and has not been published elsewhere.

Acknowledgements

I could not have done this work without the help of Dr. Carlos Cervera, who provided enormous amounts of guidance, mentorship, and support. He was always available to discuss the project and his enthusiasm for research is contagious. For this, I am extremely grateful to have him as a research supervisor.

Thanks to Drs. Karen Doucette and Juan Gonzalez-Abraldes who served on my supervisory committee and helped ensure that we were always on the right track. Their insights and assistance were much appreciated.

Outside of academia, I was fortunate to receive emotional and moral support from my partner, Megan, as well as my parents, Charlene, and David. Without their assistance, this work would not have been possible.

I would also like to thank the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research, the Faculty of Medicine and Dentistry as well as the Canadian Institute of Health Research for providing me with funding/scholarships, which allowed me to pursue this master's degree. The research performed in this paper was funded in part by the New Frontiers in Research Fund as well as the Li Ka Shing Institute of Virology.

Table of Contents

Characterization of the Urine Microbiome-host Interactioni
Abstract ii
Prefacev
Acknowledgements
Table of Contents
List of Tablesix
List of Figuresx
Abbreviations
1. Introduction1
1.1 The human microbiome1
1.2 The healthy urine microbiome and its relevance as a model
1.3 Dysbiosis of the urine microbiome and related diseases
1.4 Bacterial biofilms and human disease12
1.5 Intracellular bacteria and disease recurrence15
1.6 Hypothesis
2. Methods
2.1 Study design
2.2 Sample collection
2.3 Urine sample processing
2.4 Imaging flow cytometry
2.5 Volumetric flow cytometry
2.6 Scanning electron microscopy
2.7 Microbiome analysis
2.8 Statistical analysis
3. Results25
3.1 Demographics
3.2 Flow cytometry
3.3 Scanning electron microscopy
3.4 Microbiome analysis
4. Discussion
4.1 Evidence of an intracellular microbiota within urothelial cells

6. Works Cited		45
5. Conclusion		43
4.4 Limitations	5	
4.3 Sex-based	differences of the urine microbiome	
4.2 DNA extra	ction targeting intracellular biofilms defines a distinct profile o	of the urine microbiome. 38

List of Tables

Table 1. Differential abundance of the cell-free and cell pellet samples	34
Table 2. Differential abundance of the male and female cell pellet samples	36

List of Figures

Figure 1. Scanning electron microscope (SEM) photos	26
Figure 2. Scanning electron microscope (SEM) photos with bacilli and cocci	27
Figure 3. Urothelial cells containing bacteria versus DNA quantity	28
Figure 4. Sequencing depth of samples pre- and post-filtering of contaminants	29
Figure 5. Relative abundances of genera of the cell-free and cell pellet samples	29
Figure 6. Alpha diversity boxplot of the cell-free and cell pellet samples	30
Figure 7. Beta diversity of the cell-free and cell pellet samples	31
Figure 8. Beta diversity of the cell-free and cell pellet samples divided by sex	31
Figure 9. Plot of the beta diversity divided by sex	32
Figure 10. Volcano plot of differential abundance	33
Figure 11. Volcano plot of differential abundance divided by sex	35
Figure 12. A proposed model of the mechanism of urinary microbiome persistence	41
Supplemental Figure 1. Questionnaire given to each participant	57
Supplemental Figure 2. Example of imaging flow cytometry images from a participant	58
Supplemental Figure 3. SEM image of a biofilm-like capsule	58
Supplemental Figure 4. Relative abundances of phyla	59

Abbreviations

- ANCOM-BC2 analysis of Composition of Microbiomes with Bias Correction 2
- CAUTI catheter-associated urinary tract infection
- CDI Clostridioides difficile infection
- CFU colony forming unit
- ECA Enterobacteriaceae common antigen
- eDNA extracellular deoxyribonucleic acid
- EPS extracellular polymeric substances
- EQUC enhanced quantitative urine culture
- EtOH ethanol
- FACS fluorescence-activated cell sorting
- FMT fecal microbiota transplantation
- GI gastrointestinal
- GU genitourinary
- HMDS hexamethyldisilazane
- HMP human microbiome project
- **IBD** inflammatory bowel disease
- **IBC** intracellular bacterial communities
- IBS irritable bowel syndrome
- IC interstitial cystitis
- **IQR** interquartile range
- LPS lipopolysaccharide

- NGS next generation sequencing
- **PBS** phosphate-buffered saline
- **RA** relative abundance
- SCFAs short-chain fatty acids
- **UPIII** uroplakin III
- UPEC uropathogenic *E. coli*
- **UTI** urinary tract infection
- UUI urgency urinary incontinence

1. Introduction

1.1 The human microbiome

The human microbiome is a vast and relatively new concept. Microbiota refers to the collection of micro-organisms themselves, whereas the microbiome consists of their collective genomes. We now know that in healthy or diseased states, microorganisms can be found on any mucosal surface or exposed area of the human body - whether its skin, the gastrointestinal (GI) tract, or genitourinary (GU) tract. These microbes include bacteria, viruses, archaea, as well as eukaryotes such as fungi and protozoa. Over the past decades our understanding of the human microbiome has expanded exponentially due to breakthroughs in sequencing technology and data processing. Not only are microbes found on almost every surface of humans, but the diversity therein is immense. Trillions of bacteria live on and inside humans, equaling human cells and forcing us to re-evaluate what it truly means to be human.^{1,2}

Furthermore, these microbes do not live in isolation, they exist in an environment of constant interaction with each other, as well as host cells. Communication involves physical connections, messenger molecules, quorum sensing, and metabolic by-products. Far from benign, these interactions play important roles in various facets of our lives. Like a diverse rainforest, the balance of species diversity, and the presence or absence certain organisms is critical.

While dynamic throughout life, the initial microbiome was thought to be acquired through vertical transmission. Dogma was that humans were born sterile and this was supported by observational studies that found neonates delivered by cesarian section to have a different microbiome profile than those delivered vaginally.³ Those delivered vaginally tend to have more vaginal flora such as *Lactobacillus*, *Prevotella* or *Sneathia* spp., while cesarian section leads to more skin flora such as *Staphylococcus*, *Corynebacterium* and *Propionibacterium* spp. Further studies have revealed that it is not that simple, with the neonatal microbiome being influenced by factors such as peripartum antibiotics, pregnancy complication and length of labour.⁴ Along with this, increasing evidence has found bacteria in sites that were initially thought to be sterile such as the placenta and amniotic fluids, hypothesizing that bacterial acquisition may occur before birth.⁵ Genetics are also thought to play a role and if the microbiomes. In fact, monozygotic

twins have a more highly correlated microbiome than dizygotic, and both have more similarly related microbiomes than non-twins.⁶

The intestinal tract is home to the highest density of micro-organisms and most analysis to date on the human microbiome has been on the fecal microbiome due to its abundance, early discovery, and ease of collection. We owe most of our knowledge about the microbiome to breakthroughs in sequencing techniques such as next generation sequencing (NGS). NGS encompasses a variety of techniques and can either sequence an individual genome or the metagenome of multiple species, as in the case for microbiomes. Shotgun sequencing, a type of NGS, requires breaking down large strands of genetic material into shorter sequences which are reconstructed via overlapping segments before being referenced against a library of known sequences. Shotgun amplicon sequencing uses primers against specific sections, for example 16S ribosomal RNA, which are sequenced and used to quantify each taxon. The end result is typically a relative abundance (RA) graph. Other terms used in microbiome analysis include alpha diversity (within a single sample), and beta diversity (between samples), as well as various indexes such as the Shannon index (one of the most common ways diversity is measured).⁷

When discussing microbiomes, terms such as "healthy" or "dysbiosis" are frequently used, though the distinctions are not always clear. A healthy microbiome will change throughout an individual's life. As an example, diet can influence the microbiome and changing to a more carnivorous diet increases the relative amount of bile-tolerant microbes and decreases bacteria that breakdown plant polysaccharides.⁸ Most bacteria in the fecal microbiome are either obligate or facultative anaerobes. The major genera of obligate anaerobes include: *Bacteroides, Bifidobacterium, Clostridium, Eubacterium, Fusobacterium, Peptococcus, Peptostreptococcus, and Ruminococcus* while the facultative anaerobes include *Escherichia, Enterobacter, Enterococcus, Klebsiella, Lactobacillus* and *Proteus.*⁹

The microbiome has been implicated in both health and disease. In the gastrointestinal (GI) tract it facilitates digestion by allowing for the breakdown of plant cell walls (non-digestible fibres to humans) as well endogenous intestinal mucous. Cellulose, which consists of β -1,4 linked glucan chains, cannot be digested by human enzymes such as amylases, sucrase and lactase. Plants also contain other complex carbohydrates such as pectins and xyloglucans. The whole of the microbiota produces hundreds of other enzymes such as glycoside hydrolases and polysaccharide

lyases that are able to break down the various structures of plant walls¹⁰ and in return, mostly through anerobic digestion, it produces short chain fatty acids (SCFAs) and gas. SCFAs are fatty acids with 6 or less carbon atoms produced by the anaerobic metabolism of fibre and starches. Most common are acetate, propionate and butyrate, with butyrate being the main source of energy for colonocytes.¹¹ Beyond providing nutrition, they are associated with an improved gut barrier and decreased inflammation through interactions with regulatory T cells (Tregs), which help limit colonic inflammation. In a murine model, when given to microbiome-devoid mice, SCFAs helped upregulate Tregs and prevented the development of colitis.¹²

Many vitamins are also synthesized by gut bacteria, including vitamin K and B vitamins (biotin, cobalamin, folates, nicotinic acid, pantothenic acid, pyridoxine, riboflavin, and thiamine).¹³ Essential for human survival, we depend on bacteria to provide us with these vitamins. For example, the antibiotic trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole is effective because it inhibits bacterial folate production, leaving human cells unscathed.¹⁴ In addition, most clinicians are aware that antibiotics will increase the international normalized ratio (INR), a measure of blood clotting, by decreasing vitamin K synthesis.

Homeostasis of the microbiome is important for infection prevention. *Clostridioides difficile*, an anaerobic spore forming bacteria, is the posterchild for GI tract microbiome dysbiosis. The bacteria, which can colonize the colon of healthy individuals, proliferates in the presence of dysbiosis. This commonly occurs in those with diarrheal illnesses and antibiotic use. When the healthy microbiome is displaced, *C. difficile* moves in to take its place and overgrowth can cause a disease known as pseudomembranous colitis, which can have significant morbidity and mortality. Treatment of *C. difficile* infection (CDI) is difficult, as it is a disease often caused by antibiotics and the treatment, more antibiotics, does not address the issue of dysbiosis, leading to high recurrence rates. For this reason, probiotics, and fecal microbiota transplantation (FMT) have been investigated as an alternative or adjunctive treatment with some success. Immediately following FMT, the recipient's microbiome appears similar to the donor's. Later, the two microbiomes diverge, but the recipient's microbiome remains in the healthy range for months.¹⁵ FMT has also been shown to decrease the amount of antibiotic resistance genes in recipients for at least one year.¹⁶

The idea of ingesting human fecal matter to treat disease dates back to at least the 4th century, when Chinese literature described using it to treat diarrhea and food poisoning.¹⁷ However, it would not be until 2013 when the first RCT was performed involving FMT. Stopped early due to efficacy (81% resolution vs 31%), the study looked at duodenal infusion of human feces to treat recurrent CDI compared to antibiotics.¹⁸ Further studies have found similar efficacy for FMT delivered via other routes such as orally and current medical guidelines suggest using FMT for refractory cases of CDI.¹⁹ In 2022 the first microbiome product, RebyotaTM, was FDA approved for the prevention of recurrent CDI based off an RCT which showed a 70.6% cure rate at 8 weeks compared to 57.5% with placebo.²⁰ The product contains a "diverse set of microorganisms" and is administered as a rectal solution.

Despite the development of FMT and its therapeutic uses, we are still far from understanding exactly how the intervention works on a cellular and molecular level. It not as simple as giving a *Lactobacillus* supplement because most studies that involve giving a single probiotic are not effective. It is something more than just a bacterial species, or even multiple bacterial species. Some theorize that commercial probiotics are missing key factors such as the metabolome, the sum of the metabolic products of the microbiota, as well as key viruses such as bacteriophages. Bacteriophages, which are estimated to outnumber bacteria in the GI tract by about four-fold, are thought to play a significant role in regulating biodiversity and facilitating gene transfer.²¹

There is a temporal association between the rise of antibiotic use and increasing prevalence of autoimmune diseases such as inflammatory bowel disease (IBD), type 1 diabetes mellitus (T1DM), multiple sclerosis (MS) and systemic lupus erythematous (SLE), leading some to theorize that disruption of the microbiome and subsequent dysbiosis is a factor. Through the development of gastric-associated lymphoid tissue (GALT), and balancing of Th1, Th2 and Th17 immune responses the microbiome plays an important role in the immune system.²² Studies to elucidate the effect of the microbiome have been performed using germ-free mice models. Overall, these germ-free mice show a significant impairment of gastrointestinal lymphocyte function as well as a reduction in IgA, that can be reversed with microbial colonization.²³ *B. fragilis* contributes to CD4 T cell development and Th1 differentiation through production of polysaccharide A.²⁴ Natural killer (NK) cells are also affected by the microbiome, requiring type 1 interferon (INF-1) priming from monocytes, which is impaired in germ-free mice.²⁵ Th17 cells,

a class of immunomodulatory cells, secrete cytokines that cascade towards antimicrobial peptides, reinforcement of gut tight junctions and promotion of neutrophil recruitment via release of granulocyte colony stimulating factor (G-CSF). Several commensal bacteria, such as *Bifidobacterium adolescentis*, have been found to induce Th17 response.²⁶

Reviewing the entirety of the interactions between the thousands of bacteria, the many signalling factors of the immune system and the hundreds of autoimmune diseases is outside the scope of this dissertation. However, we do know that patients with IBD have reduced alpha diversity compared to healthy individuals or even monozygotic twins without IBD.²⁷ This dysbiosis is predominantly due to a decrease in *Bacteroidetes* and *Firmicutes*, the two most predominant phyla in the intestinal microbiome, as well as increases in other phyla.^{9,22} Correlation also exists between the degree of dysbiosis and disease activity. Despite this connection, studies looking at probiotics in autoimmune diseases (mostly IBD) have had limited success. One study which used several species of *Lactobacillus* and *Bifidobacterium* found some improvement in mild ulcerative colitis, but the results have not been translated to Crohn's disease or more severe colitis.²⁸ A meta-analysis on FMT for IBD showed variable efficacy,²⁹ and a small randomized clinical trial showed some improvement in endpoints in T1DM.³⁰

Another area of active microbiome research is obesity. Obesity is heavily studied due to its prevalence in modern society and its myriad of associated health conditions. Due to the connection between food digestion and the microbiome, the gut microbiome is a logical place to investigate. In animal models, obese subjects have a greater proportion of *Firmicutes* with depletion of *Bacteroides*.³¹ Transferring a specific *Bacteroides* species to obese mice results in a decrease in adiposity.³² There have also been associations found with multiple other species such as *Akkermansia, Lactobacillus, Bifidobacterium* and *Enterococcus*. In humans, higher levels of microbial diversity seems to have a protective effect against obesity and again, a higher ratio of *Firmicutes* to *Bacteroides* and works to correct dysbiosis.³² Despite these connections to the microbiome, studies looking to intervene with probiotics have only shown modest effects.³³

While most of our knowledge on the human microbiome comes from studying the gut microbiome, it does have its limitations. For one, a stool sample contains much more than just micro-organisms, there is undigested carbohydrates and fats as well as mucous and epithelial cells.³⁴ Analysis of stool typically requires reconstituting the solid into a liquid suspension and sample collection can be difficult and intrusive.

1.2 The healthy urine microbiome and its relevance as a model

Urine has long fascinated scientists and physicians. Before the development of imaging techniques and phlebotomy, the only way to see inside the human body and glimpse into its function, was by assessing its metabolic by-products. In fact, the ancient word for urinalysis was uroscopy, a combination of the word urine and the Greek word skopeo, meaning to 'behold, contemplate, examine, inspect'.³⁵ Ancient Hindu cultures astutely recognized that some people had sweet urine that attracted ants, a disease know known as diabetes mellitus (Greek words for siphon and sweet).

Fortunately, our understanding of urine has progressed over the years beyond having to taste it, but there is still much we do not know. We know that urine is produced in the kidneys and transferred through the ureters to the bladder where it is stored until it is expelled through the urethra. Urine composition is >90% water with the rest being urea, organic and inorganic salts, and biologic material.³⁴ A typical adult will urinate about 1.5L of urine/day, depending on fluid intake. The concentration and composition of urine fluctuates over the course of the day and varies with dietary intake and exercise. Urine's high volume and ease of collection is what makes it a great model to study the microbiome.

For many years, the dogma was that urine was sterile in healthy individuals. The roots of this thinking go back to the 1800s with the pioneers of microbiology such as Louis Pasteur and sssJoseph Lister.³⁶ They noted that urine in a sealed container did not go cloudy and thus concluded it was aseptic. Intuitively, this makes sense as for microbes, urine is a relatively hostile growth medium. It is hypertonic, acidic, and salty, in addition the bladder flushes itself multiple times per day.³⁷ The first published mention of commensal bacteria in the urine came from 1956 when Edward Kass assessed urine samples from symptomatic and asymptomatic individuals and determined that 10⁵ colony forming units (CFU) was the threshold at which urinary tract infection (UTI) symptoms appeared.³⁸ In 2012 an experiment comparing routes of urine collection showed that samples collected from suprapubic aspiration and transurethral catheter both contained bacteria, disproving that urine is sterile.³⁹ The same study found that

voided samples contained a mix of urinary and genital tract bacteria. Recently the term asymptomatic bacteriuria has grown in popularity to indicate the presence of bacteria in the urine, but the absence of symptoms of cystitis. The term is an artifact of historical urine culture methods, as we now know that every urine sample taken (even from healthy individuals) from birth until death will contain bacteria.

Initially, urine was tested for "sterility" using urine cultures. The standard urine culture is done by plating a small amount (1 μ L) of urine onto MacConkey and blood agar, then incubating at 35°C for 24hr.⁴⁰ Designed to culture common uropathogens such as uropathogenic *E. coli* (UPEC), this ignores slower growing bacteria, those that require an anaerobic environment, and bacteria present in low CFU amounts (<10³). More advanced techniques for assessing the urinary microbiome include NGS (discussed in section 1.1) or the enhanced quantitative urine culture (EQUC) which plates a larger amount of urine (100 μ L) on a variety of media in diverse atmospheric conditions for twice as long (48 hours).⁴¹ Compared to next generation sequencing (NGS) this has the advantage of showing viable bacteria, but it still doesn't capture the whole picture.

As mentioned, most of the scientific developments on the human microbiome came from the GI tract, where the presence of bacteria is more obvious. When the Human Microbiome Project (HMP) launched in 2008 it initially only assessed the GI tract. Later, it was expanded to assess five sites: gastrointestinal, oral, skin, nasal and urogenital.⁹ The urogenital samples involved swabbing both the vagina and posterior cervical fornix. Urine was not included despite decades of knowledge that is it not sterile, possibly because of difficulty with culturing techniques, or it was thought that asymptomatic bacteriuria came from genitourinary (GU) contamination. The genomic sequencing of the HMP was done using 16S rRNA amplicon sequencing.

It has become more and more accepted that the urinary tract has a microbiome and that it is distinct from both the gut and genitourinary microbiomes³⁹ As in the gut microbiome, defining healthy or normal is a difficult task. There are many factors that influence a person's urinary microbiome. Variations exists between sexes in both composition and bacteria. For example, females have higher amounts of citrate but less calcium and oxalate, and males have more creatinine.³⁷ Menopausal females are disproportionally affected by UTIs, suggesting a hormonal effect. Estrogen has a protective effect on urothelial cells, it stimulates production of

antimicrobial peptides and reinforces the tight junctions between epithelial cells. Conversely, the same study found that the presence of estrogen increased UPEC internalization inside the epithelial cells.⁴² Mouse models of menopause also have higher degrees of bacteriuria, more intracellular bacterial reservoirs, and aberrant immune responses. Findings, which were reversible with estrogen supplementation.⁴³

As we age, so does our microbiome. One study that assessed a wide age range of females found that there were age-specific genera of bacteria including *Jonquetella, Parvimonas, Proteiniphilum,* and *Saccharofermentans* in females >70 years old – in addition to more standard genera such as *Lactobacillus.*⁴⁴ The method of urine collection can also have an effect on the microbial diversity that is detected. There are multiple methods including: first catch, midstream, transurethral catheterization, and suprapubic aspiration. The latter two methods are thought to get a more accurate representation of the urinary microbiome by avoiding the contamination of the genital microbiome.³⁹

In females without UTIs the most abundant genera of bacteria include *Lactobacillus, Prevotella, Streptococcus* and *Gardnerella*.⁴⁵ Males also have an abundance of *Lactobacillus, Streptococcus* and *Prevotella*, but have less *Gardnerella* and more *Sneathia* spp.⁴⁶ Multiple factors determine what makes a bacterium a good urinary commensal. When looking at organisms that are culturable using standard techniques, some common microbial characteristics that predispose to asymptomatic bacteriuria are the ability to use urine as a substrate, de-novo synthesis of guanine, catabolism of malic acid and resistance to D-serine.³⁷

Lactobacillus is the predominant genera in healthy females (*Lactobacillus crispatus* and *Lactobacillus iners*). Thes genus are thought to prevent infections through multiple methods: release of lactic acid, production of H_2O_2 , biosurfactants and by aggregating with pathogens.⁴⁷ Females with recurrent UTIs may have more *E. coli* species and depletion of Lactobacilli. Invivo experiments with *Lactobacillus* show that their metabolic by-products and their culture supernatant prevent the growth of UPEC and downregulates some virulence factors.⁴⁸

There is increasing evidence that the urinary microbiome, like its fecal counterpart, is acquired prior to birth. Metagenomic studies have found that the placenta has its own microbiome, as does the uterus of the mother.^{5,49} One study on the placental microbiome found that it was most

closely related to the oral microbiome, though comparisons were only made to sites utilized by the HMP and therefore the urinary tract was not included.⁴⁹

Overall, the urinary microbiome is an extremely relevant model for assessing the complete human microbiome. For one, it has been historically overlooked due to misconceived notions of sterility. It is also a much simpler microbiome to assess than the fecal microbiome – given that samples come in a solution, and there is minimal extraneous solid material. As a model there are still significant gaps in our understanding. While we know some detail about the composition of the urinary microbiome, little is known about its structure. In addition, most of the studies cited above looked predominately at the female microbiome, due to the increased risk of UTIs, and little is known about the male microbiome. Knowledge about disease associations with the urinary microbiome are in their infancy as well.

1.3 Dysbiosis of the urine microbiome and related diseases

While the urinary microbiome may not aide in digestion like the fecal microbiome, it is by no means a benign system and plays crucial roles in the bladder immune system and urine production/metabolism. To best understand function of the health urinary microbiome, it is beneficial to see the diseases that are associated with its dysbiosis.

Urgency urine incontinence (UUI) – UUI is a prevalent but poorly understood condition. The disease is characterized by a strong need to urinate (urgency) that is accompanied by leakage of urine. The disease can be very burdensome and is thought to be due to abnormal neuromuscular signalling, resulting in an overactive detrusor muscle, the main muscle of the bladder.⁵⁰ However, detrusor overactivity is not present in all patients with UUI and treatment of it does not always result in symptom resolution. A connection between low microbiome diversity and UUI has been investigated due to overlapping symptoms with UTIs. Comparing females with and without UUI, one study found a significant difference in 14 different genera in patients with UUI. This included increases in *Sphingomonadales, Chitinophaga* and *Brevundimonas* spp. and decreases of *Mycobacterium, Nocardioides* and *Prevotella* spp. There was also a correlation between the severity of UUI symptoms and loss of alpha diversity.⁵⁰ Another study used 16s rRNA PCR as well as EQUC and found that patients with UUI had increased *Gardnerella*, decreased *Lactobacillus* and increased levels of 9 specific genera, however a completely

different 9 genera than in the previously mentioned study - demonstrating some of the difficulty with microbiome analysis. Of the *Lactobacillus* isolated, UUI patients had more *Lactobacillus gasseri* and the controls had more *Lactobacillus crispatus*.⁵¹ In a step towards personalized medicine, solifenacin, a medication used to treat UUI was found to be more effective in patients with lower urinary microbiome diversity.⁵²

Urolithiasis – Urolithiasis, the presence of calculi or stones in the urinary tract, is a prevalent and often painful condition with a lifetime prevalence of around 15%.⁵³ There are multiple different types of stones, all of which have different risk factors. Struvite stones (sometimes called infection stones) are produced by urease-containing bacteria such as *Proteus*.⁵⁴ Calcium oxalate stones, the most common type of urolithiasis, are caused by hyperoxaluria (too much oxalate in the urine).⁵⁵ *Oxalobacter*, part of the intestinal microbiome, catabolizes oxalate to produce ATP, thereby decreasing the oxalate absorbed and secreted by the kidney. Observational studies have found that patients with calcium oxalate stones have less *Oxalobacter* in their stool.⁵⁶ *Oxalobacter* is less common in females with recurrent UTIs, possibly due to multiple courses of antibiotics. Antibiotic use also shifts the urinary microbiome away from *Lactobacillus* and towards *Enterobacteriaceae*, which is also associated with stone formation.⁵⁷ There is also evidence that calcium oxalate stones are potentiated by the urine microbiome. In-vitro models show that *E. coli, K. pneumoniae, S. aureus* and *S. pneumoniae* all promote calcium oxalate crystallization and aggregation.⁵⁸ Stones can also be colonized by bacteria, potential serving as a nidus for the urinary microbiome or recurrent infections.⁵⁹

Urothelial carcinoma – Many infections are known to be associated with cancer, for example *H. pylori*, human papillomavirus, Hepatitis B and C viruses, and in the bladder, *S. haematobium*.⁶⁰ As discussed, the microbiome plays an important role in modulating the immune system, and one of the jobs of the immune system is cancer protection. Colorectal inflammation in mouse models is associated with dysbiosis and colorectal cancer.⁶¹ In humans the connection is not as clear but it remains an area of active research for both colorectal and urothelial carcinoma. In a small pilot study, patients with urothelial carcinoma were found to have higher amounts of *Streptococcus* spp. than those without.⁶² Overall, the data is unclear, as a different study found no such association and a third found that bacterial richness was increased in urothelial cancer patients.^{63,64}

Interstitial cystitis – Interstitial cystitis (IC) is a disease of unclear etiology. Symptoms include chronic pelvic or bladder pain with lower urinary tract symptoms (LUTS). Females are disproportionately affected compared to males. Being a diagnosis of exclusion, the disease is difficult to diagnose and study.⁶⁵ Females with IC have less genera and less overall diversity than healthy females.⁶⁶ Microbiome analysis has found decreased *Prevotella* and *Gardnerella* with increased *Enterococcus, Atopobium, Proteus* and *Cronobacter* spp. Interestingly, the same study also found increased *Lactobacillus* (not seen in other studies or other disease states).⁶⁷ A larger follow-up study did not see differences in relative abundances but there were differences in *Lactobacillus* (more *johnsonii* and *gasseri* in IC, but less *acidophilus*) and more uropathogens in the IC group.⁶⁸ Two other studies have been performed that have not found a relationship between IC and the microbiome.^{69,70}

Urinary tract infections – A significant amount of urinary microbiome research has been done regarding its relationship with UTIs, and for good reason. UTIs are the 2nd most common type of treated infection and 50% of females experience at least one episode in their lifetime.⁷¹ In medicine UTIs are divided into complicated and uncomplicated with complicated UTIs requiring a different approach to treatment. Some examples of complicated UTIs are those that occur in people with anatomical abnormalities, immunosuppression, post-surgical or in males. While uncomplicated UTIs (acute cystitis) are straightforward to treat (often requiring only a few days of antibiotics), a sizable percentage of individuals will go on to develop recurrent UTIs. Recurrent UTIs (discussed in more detail in section 1.5) are very prevalent and an estimated 25% of females go on to have a recurrent UTI within 6 months of treatment.⁷² Risk factors include hormonal deficiencies, diabetes, nephrolithiasis, structural and functional bladder diseases, and antibiotic use.

The current model of urinary tract infection is the ascending infection model (outside of exceptions from surgery or devices such as catheters). In this model, bacteria from outside the urinary tract move up the urethra and take hold in the bladder, reproducing and leading to the symptoms of cystitis. Males are thought to be less susceptible to UTIs as the longer urethra makes it more difficult for bacteria to ascend. Infecting strains can often be found in vaginal and fecal cultures of patients with recurrent UTIs, and this has lent support to the ascending route of

infection, though this does not prove causation but rather that the patient is colonized with specific bacteria.⁷³

Supplementing the ascending infection model is increasing evidence that the microbiome plays a significant role in infections. Continuing a common trend, as Lactobacilli decrease, the *E. coli* population increases.⁷¹ Urinary microbiome is also home to many bacteriophages with one study sequencing the genomes of 181 bacterial species in the urinary microbiome and finding 226 phage sequences. It was also revealed that 86% of bacteria had a phage sequence with a viable *E. coli* lytic phage being cultivated.⁷⁴ In addition, there is some evidence for probiotics in UTIs, pointing towards UTIs as a disorder of the microbiome rather than solely urinary tract anatomy. Interestingly, there have been several case reports of FMT successfully treating recurrent UTIs, with larger studies ongoing.^{75–77}

Realizing that UTIs are a disease of the microbiome would have large implications for our overall understanding and management of the disease. Treatment of UTIs typically involves antibiotics for 1-7 days (depending on severity and the antibiotic used), which may disrupt the urinary microbiome even further. As demonstrated in *C. difficile* colitis, the treatment of a microbiome disease with antibiotics can be extremely difficult. We also know that repeated courses of antibiotics leads to the development of resistant bacteria which is not only dangerous for the individual patient, but is becoming a global concern.⁷⁸

1.4 Bacterial biofilms and human disease

Biofilms are aggregates of micro-organisms embedded in an extracellular matrix, typically on the surface of an object (organic or not). Communicating constantly, the microbes don't just live in proximity - each biofilm is a dynamic ecosystem with microbes working together and filling various roles within the community. An important characteristic of biofilms is that they have emergent properties and can behave differently than the sum of their parts.⁷⁹ This has significant implications for persistence, antimicrobial resistance, and virulence. Beyond being of interest from an ecological perspective, biofilms also have a key role in healthcare and medicine.

Structurally, biofilms are an organised collection of microbes surrounded by extracellular polymeric substances (EPS). Water, extracellular polysaccharides, extracellular proteins, and environmental DNA (eDNA) make up most of the EPS.⁸⁰ In *E. coli* and *Salmonella* spp. the EPS

consists of curli fibres (chains of peptides that are assembled into amyloid fibres) and the extracellular polysaccharide is cellulose.⁸¹ Cellulose, a polymer of glucose that is linked by β -1,4 glycosidic bonds, is commonly thought of as a plant polysaccharide but can also be produced by bacteria.⁸² eDNA, a conversed component of biofilms that is woven into a mesh-like structure, has been described in UPEC bacteria and is essential for their biofilm growth and stability.⁸² In fact, eDNA is a therapeutic target in cystic fibrosis, where inhaled DNase is used reduce the viscosity of pulmonary secretions and biofilms. EPS composition also depends on the type of bacteria in the biofilm, with *Vibrio cholerae* and *Bacillus subtilis* making different extracellular proteins and polysaccharides than the aforementioned *E. coli*.⁸³ Biofilms can be analogous to multicellular organisms with the ability to undergo differentiation and have a life cycle of their own with different protein expression.⁸⁴

Collectively, the micro-organisms and EPS serve many functions. Biofilms are defensive mechanisms that protect not only against mechanical stress but also other forces such as desiccation, with the high water component and dissolved proteins/polysaccharides acting as a gel. Secreted digestive enzymes and polysaccharides also afford biofilms the ability to adhere and persist on surfaces such as prosthetic implanted material. Biofilms can also confer significant antimicrobial resistance, one such way is the EPS providing a physical diffusion barrier.⁸⁵ Horizontal gene transfer and eDNA can pass along resistance genes to other bacteria in the biofilms. Other methods of antimicrobial resistance include enzymatic degradation and reactions with siderophores. Many cells in biofilms are in stationary growth, conferring resistance to antibiotics targeting replication.⁸⁶ All these methods can decrease the effective concentration of antimicrobials below lethal limits to potentially select for resistant bacteria.

Biofilms are commonly polymicrobial. In fact, the first multi-species biofilms were noticed by Antonie van Leeuwenhoek in the late 1600s, studying the bacterial plaques of his own teeth.⁸⁷ Many people who were never explicitly taught about biofilms are aware of this connection between dental plaques and carries. However, creating an extracellular matrix comes with a cost, so being polymicrobial must have a benefit. Like a multicellular organism, different bacteria in biofilms can fill different niches and play distinct roles. Aerobes trend to be closer to the surface, and anaerobes deeper down. Some bacteria also tolerate different pHs within the biofilm, and others metabolise diverse chemicals such as nitrites.⁷⁹ Even single species of bacteria will develop different phenotypes within a biofilm.⁸⁸

While biofilms are ubiquitous in nature, they may be best known for their role in nosocomial infections. Biofilms may form on any indwelling medical device such as intravenous or transurethral catheters, prosthetic implants such as heart valves or joint replacements. Outside of prosthetic material, biofilms are implicated in cystic fibrosis, endocarditis and prostatitis.⁸⁹ Their presence can lead to infections that are almost impossible to treat with antibiotics alone. In the bladder biofilms can form on transurethral (urinary) catheters, which are often used for urinary retention, and cause catheter-associated UTIs (CAUTIs), which are responsible for 40% of nosocomial infections.⁹⁰ The urinary catheter acts both as a nidus for biofilm formation and damages the urothelial mucosa upon insertion. *E. coli* and *P. mirabilis* are the most common causes, but CAUTIs can also be caused by *Enterococcus* spp., *Klebsiella* and others.⁹⁰ Similar to the protective effects of a healthy microbiome, one in-vitro study incubated catheters with colicin-producing *E. coli* and found that it protected the catheter from colicin-susceptible strains of UPEC.⁹¹

Outside of prosthetic devices, biofilms occur naturally within the body and have been described in both the gastrointestinal and urinary tracts. In the intestine, microbes must be in close contact with epithelial cells to interact and share metabolites. Commensals such as *Lactobacillus rhamnosus* bind to mucin, an abundant glycoprotein that makes up most of the mucosa. While biofilms of *Lactobacillus* have not yet been described in humans,⁹² they have been described in murine and avian animal models.⁹³ Part of the difficulty describing the physical structure of the human microbiome is that most of our data points come from feces or rectal swabs which is far removed from structures such as the stomach and small intestine. A 1983 study looked at several sudden-death victims and found that bacteria were present below the mucin layer and that within the layer there was a 'complex microbial structure'.⁹⁴

Microbiome dysbiosis can also involve biofilms. In a study that compared inflammatory bowel disease (IBD), irritable bowel syndrome (IBS) and healthy control patients, it was found that most patients with IBD and self-limiting colitis had high densities of biofilms, whereas only 35% of the healthy patients did. They also found that the density of intestinal biofilms was 100x

higher in IBD compared to IBS or controls. *B. fragilis* was responsible for most of the IBD biofilm mass but a minority of the biofilm mass in other groups.⁹⁵

Due to their hardiness, assessment of the bacteria within biofilms is difficult. However, there is value in doing so to better understand and diagnose infections on prosthetic devices. Many different techniques have been used such as physical disruption, chemical dissolution, and sonication, but there is currently no universally accepted method.⁹⁶ Sonication, a technique using high frequency sound waves to disrupt biofilms, is the most commonly used technique and multiple studies have found increased microbial yield when the technique is applied to ex-vivo prosthetic joints and urinary catheters.^{97,98} Despite this, most if not all studies assessing the urine microbiome do not use sonication or any other biofilm extraction technique.^{45,51}

1.5 Intracellular bacteria and disease recurrence

UTIs are an extremely common infection and recurrence occurs in 25% of females within 6 months of treatment.⁷² Seemingly going against our classical understanding of immunology, where once someone develops and then cures an infection, the body's immunity prevents that infection from occurring again. While people with anatomical or functional defects in the urinary tract (ex. neurogenic bladder in spinal cord injuries) can be predisposed to recurrent UTIs, in most people, there is no clear pre-disposing factor.

To learn how bacteria can establish themselves and create recurrent infections, it is important to describe the bladder immune response. A substantial portion of the bladder's immune response is through innate immunity rather than adaptive. TLR4, which responds to lipopolysaccharides (LPS), has a vital role in this innate immune response. TLR4 enacts an immune response through expression of IL-6 and IL-8, a neutrophil chemoattractant. Low IL-8 receptor expression is associated with pyelonephritis in humans, and UTIs in mice.⁹⁹ Mice with *TLR4* mutations are less responsive to LPS and more susceptible to UTIs.¹⁰⁰ Associations have also been made between children with asymptomatic bacteriuria and lower TLR4 expression.¹⁰¹ In addition to LPS, type 1 pili may also stimulate TLR4 through FimH, the adhesion portion of the pili.¹⁰² More than just *TLR4*, *TLR5* knockout mice (responds to flagellin) have higher bacterial loads in the bladder.¹⁰³ Many other factors of the immune system such as G-CSF, plasminogen activator inhibitor type 1 (PAI-1) and IL-17 also play a role.⁹⁹

A key distinction to make in recurrent UTIs is relapse vs reinfection. Relapse is recurrence with the same organism, typically within a brief period of time. Reinfection is a new episode of infection, caused by a different bacterium. Recurrent UTIs commonly are relapses with the same bacteria, suggesting colonization either within or outside the bladder. Restriction fragment length polymorphism (RFLP) analysis done in 1995 in recurrent UTI patients found that the *E. coli* strains re-infecting patients were identical and were often found in the rectum prior to causing a UTI. They concluded that reinfection occurs from colonic strains.¹⁰⁴ A weakness of the ascending infection model is that attempts to sterilize the area around the urethra have not led to decreased UTIs. A 1985 study compared using a perineal topical disinfectant to oral antibiotics to prevent UTI recurrence and found that the topical disinfectant was ineffective,¹⁰⁵ implying that a reservoir exists within the urinary tract.

Further research into UTIs has found that bladder epithelial cells can harbour pathogenic bacteria. The most studied of these bacteria are uropathogenic *E. coli* (UPEC). While most of the research on intracellular bladder bacteria has been on UPEC, there is also evidence for several other species. *Staphylococcus saprophyticus* has been described invading urothelial carcinoma cells, while *Klebsiella pneumoniae* and *Salmonella enterica* are also capable of becoming intracellular.^{106–108} Bacteria have developed many virulence factors in order to establish infections in the bladder including: adhesins, hemolysin and siderophores. One of the most important virulence factors for UPEC are its fimbriae. UPEC has two types of fimbriae to facilitate adhesion: type 1 pili adhere to glycosylated uroplakin on the luminal surface of the bladder while P-pili bind globoseries glycolipids on kidney epithelial cells.¹⁰⁹

Two studies in 2007 investigated the significance of UPEC intracellular bacterial communities (IBCs) in acute cystitis. The first compared females with acute cystitis and those with asymptomatic bacteriuria using electron microscopy and immunofluorescence. IBCs were seen in 18% of the females with cystitis and 0% the asymptomatic patients.¹¹⁰ The second study collected 18 UPEC isolates from females who had a variety of clinical syndromes such as asymptomatic bacteriuria, acute cystitis, recurrent cystitis, and pyelonephritis and inoculated them into mice. They found that 15 of the 18 samples formed IBCs, and that samples from all clinical syndromes were able to form IBCs, though those with acute cystitis formed smaller and fewer IBCs.¹¹¹

IBC formation starts with UPEC cells attaching to bladder epithelial cells. There they take advantage of the cell's fusiform vesicles. These vesicles, which are normally used to regulate bladder area in the presence or absence of urine, are exploited by the bacteria to endocytose inside the epithelial cells where they can persist inside the bladder and escape voiding/elimination. The vesicles are cAMP dependent and exocytosis of the bacteria can be induced by giving medication to upregulate intracellular cAMP.¹⁰⁶ Inside the bladder endothelium, UPEC may be kept quiescent by the presence of intracellular actin, however upon undergoing terminal differentiation, the epithelial cell reduces its actin and UPEC may rapidly reproduce and create more intracellular pods.¹¹² For more efficient packing and division, the cells change from their standard rod shape to cocci and form biofilm-like structures where they are protected from flushing, host immune defences, as well as antibiotics.¹¹³

Being intracellular affords UPEC the ability to evade the immune system through several methods.¹¹⁴ They can suppress NF-κB activity - subsequently inducing epithelial cell apoptosis, downregulate expression of IL-6 and IL-8, as well as attenuate neutrophil responses through multiple mechanisms.^{99,115} Of course, the development of biofilm-like IBCs is critical to persistence, here they can avoid the immune system and continue propagation, leading to recurrent infections (biofilms discuss in section 1.4). Murine models of recurrent UTIs show that bacteria can endure for months and avoid the host immune system, as well as systemic antibiotics.¹¹⁶ In one study, treatment with trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole (a first-line antibiotic for UTIs) cleared the fecal reservoir acutely after 3 days, but 10 days of treatment was required to eradicate fecal colonization and decrease UTI recurrence. The bladder reservoir persisted after the 10 days of treatment, twice as long as a standard course of antibiotics for a UTI.¹¹⁶ Once established, IBCs propagate through epithelial cell exfoliation or apoptosis, allowing UPEC to re-infect either other epithelial cells or the transitional epithelial below the superficial bladder epithelial cells.

Type 1 pili, previously thought of as an external attachment organelle, are essential for biofilm development.¹¹⁷ When type 1 pili expression is downregulated, the bacteria are unable to form IBCs and bacterial burden is decreased.¹¹⁸ Lactobacilli metabolic by-products can downregulate the promotor activity of type 1 and type P fimbriae and inhibit UPEC growth in-vitro.⁴⁸ If we think of UTIs as a disease of the microbiome, then it makes sense to attempt to treat the

dysbiosis. However, trials looking to replenish *Lactobacillus* orally¹¹⁹ and intravaginally^{120,121} have had limited success. In one study, females given *Lactobacillus* vaginal suppositories for secondary UTI prophylaxis after antibiotics were found to have a recurrence rate decreased from 47% to 21%.¹²¹ A 2013 meta-analysis looked at 5 studies (both oral and vaginal suppositories) and found no difference in overall rUTIs, but sensitivity analysis of the 2 studies which looked specifically at probiotic strains (*Lactobacillus crispatus, rhamnosus* and *fermentum*) found a significant difference (RR=0.51) with NNT of 7.¹²² Beyond *Lactobacillus, E. coli* has also been used to target dysbiosis. In patients with neurogenic bladder inoculation with a non-UPEC strain of *E. coli* was done in an effort to induce colonization and prevent recurrent UTIs. Colonization occurred successfully in over half of the patients, but it only lasted for a mean of 12 months. Those that were successfully colonized had a reduction in UTI frequency (3.1 UTIs/year to 0 UTIs/year).¹²³

Not just a phenomenon of the urothelial epithelium, there is evidence for the involvement of intracellular bacteria and biofilms in otitis media, tonsilitis and cystic fibrosis.¹²⁴ Initially, the understanding of biofilms was that they had to be attached to an exterior surface but as we learn about the increasing complexity of biofilms, this is being questioned.¹²⁴ For all intents and purposes, the IBCs described inside urothelial cells behave as biofilms: they group together in close proximity, develop different phenotypes through quorum sensing, and contribute to persistence and resistance of antibiotics.

1.6 Hypothesis

While there is evidence showing that recurrent UTIs result from intracellular bacteria and dysbiosis of the urinary microbiome, we do not know much about the structure of the urinary microbiome, and if commensals are also able to form IBCs. To the best of our knowledge no one has described intracellular bacterial communities of non-pathogenic bacteria and the normal urinary microbiome.

We hypothesize that the current understanding of the urinary microbiome significantly underestimates the importance and scale of intracellular bacteria and IBCs. We expect that not only will bacteria be present in the urine of healthy individuals, but so will intracellular bacteria. These intracellular bacteria will have a distinct microbiologic profile from extracellular bacteria and in addition, they will form a sizable portion of the urinary microbiome. Symbiosis of intracellular bacteria with human urothelial cells will likely require the presence of intracellular biofilms or biofilm-like structures, which we aim to visualize with SEM. Lastly, we predict that the microbiomes of males and females will have differences in the relative and absolute abundance of individual bacteria taxa. We aim to better characterize the intracellular component of the urinary microbiome through 3 main efforts.

- 1. Sonication of urine samples to disrupt the urothelial cell membrane prior to viewing with the IBCs with electron microscopy.
- 2. Using imaging flow cytometry to estimate the percentage of exfoliated urothelial cells that contain bacteria.
- 3. Comparing the urinary microbiome of acellular urine to the exfoliated urine cell pellet.

2. Methods

2.1 Study design

This was a cross-sectional study of participants without history of recurrent UTIs. Subjects were recruited by word of mouth and consented to enrol in the study (Research Ethics Board ID Pro00124267). A conscious effort was made to have a sex and race-diverse study group, with at least 50% females and 40% non-white participants. To select for healthy volunteers, subjects filled out a screening questionnaire stating that they were not currently on antibiotics and that they had not been diagnosed with a UTI in the past 6 months. Background data was collected on age of menarche and menopause, as well as whether the subject had ever been diagnosed with a UTI (**Supplemental Figure 1**).

2.2 Sample collection

Once enrolled, subjects were given sterile urine collection containers and asked to provide 300 mL of voided urine. Urine was randomly sampled and not midstream or catheter-collected for patient convenience. Some subjects provided samples over multiple days, but samples were always processed on the same day as collection.

2.3 Urine sample processing

The 300 mL urine sample was divided into six aliquots of 50 mL each. One aliquot was centrifuged at 300 x g and the resulting supernatant and cell pellet were collected in 2 mL PCR-clean tubes and stored at -80° C until processing for metagenomic analysis. The other five 50 mL aliquots were centrifuged at 300 x g, the cell pellet washed in phosphate buffer saline (PBS) and transferred to a 15 mL conical tube and centrifuged again at 300 x g. The resulting cell pellet was mixed with 1 mL cell culture freezing media with dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) (Millipore-Sigma, USA) and stored in cryogenic vials (Corning, USA) at -80° C until processing.

2.4 Imaging flow cytometry

We thawed one cryopreserved vial and washed the pellet with PBS first and 5% flow cytometry staining buffer (FACS) afterwards. Cells were then incubated for 30 minutes with a viability/cytotoxicity stain (LIVE/DEADTM Fixable Near-IR Dead Cell Stain Kit, for 633 or 635

nm excitation, Invitrogen). Cell fixation and permeabilization was done using the Foxp3/Transcription Factor Staining Buffer Set (InvitrogenTM, USA) following the manufacturer's instructions. We used IgG rabbit anti-uroplakin III (anti-UPIII) antibody (Invitrogen #MA5-16407, USA) and IgG mouse anti-Enterobacteriaceae common antigen (anti-ECA) antibody (Invitrogen #MA5-33256, USA) as primary antibodies, using a dilution of 1:200 for both antibodies and incubation in ice for 30 minutes.

After re-permeabilization, we added donkey anti-rabbit AF488 (Thermofisher #A21206, USA) and donkey anti-mouse AF647 (Thermofisher #A31571, USA), at a dilution of 1:170 and 1:200, respectively, and incubated in ice for 30 minutes. Cells were then washed in 5% FACS buffer twice and read within 24 hours. Cells were visualized and quantified using an Amnis® ImageStream®^X Mk II imaging flow cytometer.

2.5 Volumetric flow cytometry

We used volumetric flow cytometry to quantify the number of urothelial cells per volume of urine. Similarly to the imaging flow cytometry, we thawed one cryopreserved vial (equivalent to 50 mL of urine). The cells were washed with 5% FACS buffer, fixed, and incubated with primary antibody IgG rabbit anti-UPIII antibody (Invitrogen #MA5-16407) first, and donkey anti-rabbit antibody AF488 (Thermofisher #A21206) afterwards. Urothelial cells were quantified using an AttuneTM NxT benchtop digital flow cytometer.

2.6 Scanning electron microscopy

One cryopreserved aliquot was thawed and washed with PBS. The cell pellet was suspended in 0.5-1 mL of PBS in a 1.5 mL microcentrifuge tube and was sonicated using a 42KHz and 35W ultrasonic cleaner (Model HC-80, Huatian Huichuang Technology, China) for 5 minutes in a water bath. The pellet was resuspended in 500 μ L of PBS and then incubated for 30 minutes with anti-ECA antibody (Invitrogen #MA5-33256) in a 1:200 dilution. Samples were centrifuged and then resuspended in 500 μ L of PBS solution before incubating for 30 minutes with 18nm Colloidal Gold-AffiniPure Goat Anti-Mouse IgG (H+L) (Jackson Immunolab, US) at a dilution of 1:20.

The resulting pellet was fixed in 1 mL of glutaraldehyde 2% in 0.1M sodium cacodylate buffer, pH 7.4 (Electron Microscopy Sciences, US), at 4° C for 24 h. Following fixation in glutaraldehyde, the pellet was fixed in osmium tetroxide 2% aqueous solution for 30 minutes.

The pellet was then washed twice using sodium cacodylate trihydrate (Sigma Aldrich Canada). Dehydration was done by increasing concentrations of ethanol (EtOH) and ethanolhexamethyldisilazane (HMDS) as follows: 50% EtOH for 15 minutes, 70% EtOH for 15 minutes, 90% EtOH for 15 minutes, 100% EtOH for 10 minutes (four washes), EtOH:HMDS in a 75:25 ratio for 15 minutes, EtOH:HMDS 50:50 for 15 minutes, EtOH:HMDS 25:75 for 15 minutes and 100% HMDS for 15 minutes (two washes)¹²⁵. The supernatant was discarded, and the pellet left to dry out overnight in the fume hood.

The dehydrated material was then mounted onto an ultra-thin carbon tab on an aluminium standard pin stub SEM mount with slotted 1/2" head (Electron Microscopy Sciences, US). The samples were visualized using a Hitachi S4800 FESEM.

Samples were screened under SEM visualization to look for bacteria. Both morphology (i.e. cocci and rods) and size (~0.5-2um) were used to screen for bacteria. Aggregates of bacteria were photographed and determined to be possibly monomicrobial if only one type of morphology was seen, or polymicrobial if both rods and cocci were seen.

2.7 Microbiome analysis

2.7.1 Sample preparation

In preparation, 50 ml of urine sample was centrifuged at 600 x g for 10 minutes. The sample was divided into two components, the cell pellet, and the cell-free sample, composed of 1mL of supernatant. With the cell pellets, we proceeded to sonication at 42 kHz for 5 minutes and DNA extraction using a commercial kit targeting bacteria in biofilms (DNeasy® PowerBiofilm® kit, Qiagen, Germany). For cell-free samples, we performed DNA extraction using a different commercial kit (ZymoBIOMICS DNA Miniprep Kit, Zymo Research, US). We measured the concentration of bacterial DNA in each sample using a Denovix DS-11 FX+ Spectrophotometer/Fluorometer. The extracted DNA from both cell-free and cell pellet samples

was shipped to the Centre for the Analysis of Genome Evolution & Function (CAGEF) at the University of Toronto.

2.7.2 16S rRNA gene sequencing

The V4 hypervariable region of the 16S rRNA gene was amplified using uniquely barcoded 515F (forward) and 806R (reverse) sequencing primers to allow for multiplexing.¹²⁶ Amplification reactions were performed using 12.5 μ l of KAPA2G Robust HotStart ReadyMix (KAPA Biosystems), 1.5 μ L of 10 μ M forward and reverse primers, 7.5 μ L of sterile water and 2 μ L of DNA. The V4 region was amplified by cycling the reaction at 95°C for 3 minutes, 28x cycles of 95°C for 15 seconds, 50°C for 15 seconds and 72°C for 15 seconds, followed by a 5-minute 72°C extension. All amplification reactions were done in triplicate to reduce amplification bias, pooled, and checked on a 1% agarose Tris-borate-EDTA (TBE) gel. Pooled triplicates were quantified using PicoGreen and combined by even concentrations. The library was then purified using Ampure XP beads and loaded on to the Illumina MiSeq for sequencing (Illumina, San Diego, CA). Sequencing was performed using the V2 (150bp x 2) chemistry. A single-species (*Pseudomonas aeruginosa* DNA), a mock community (Zymo Microbial Community DNA Standard D6305), and a template-free negative control were included in the sequencing run.

2.7.3 Analysis of the bacterial microbiome

The Qiime2 analysis package was used for sequence analysis, with the following functions accessed from within the Qiime2 package.¹²⁷ The quality of the sequencing run was first examined using FastQC and MultiQC.^{128,129} Cut adapt was used to remove sequences with high errors rates.¹²⁸ Paired-end sequences were assembled, and quality trimmed using vsearch – fastq_mergepairs with a –fastq_truncqual set at 2, a maxee set at 1, and minimum and maximum assemble lengths set at 250 and 255 (+2 and -3 base pairs from the expected sequence length of 253bp).^{129,130} Assembled sequences were subjected to an additional filtering step, utilizing the quality-filter function in Qiime2. The resulting high-quality data was then processed following the deblur pipeline. Sequences were clustered into Amplicon Sequence Variant (ASV) groups and singleton sequences were removed. Taxonomy assignment was executed using the Qiime2 classify-hybrid-vsearch-sklearn function and the Average ReadyToWear trained Silva database

version 138.1^{131,132}. ASVs with an abundance less than 0.01% were removed to reduce the potential for observing bleed-through ASVs, and ASVs identified as contaminating chloroplast or mitochondria were removed. A phylogenetic tree was created using the SEPP function available through Qiime2.¹³³

2.8 Statistical analysis

Numerical analyses were performed using STATA V13 (StataCorp, College Station, TX) and microbiome analysis using the Qiime2 analysis package as described above. Variables were described as medians with interquartile ranges (IQR). Pairwise comparisons were conducted using the Wilcoxon rank sum test for continuous variables and the Fisher exact test for proportions. Alpha diversity was calculated with four different methods: observed richness, Chao1, Shannon index and Simpson index. Beta diversity was calculated using both weighted UniFrac distances and Bray Curtis distances, with significance tested via ADONIS. Differential abundance was calculated using Analysis of Composition of Microbiomes with Bias Correction 2 (ANCOM-BC2).¹³⁴
3. Results

3.1 Demographics

Between October and June 2022, urine samples were collected from 20 participants, with a median age of 38 years (IQR 29-51) and predominance of females (12/20, 60%). Seven (35%) of the participants had previously been diagnosed with a UTI (6 females [50%] and 1 male [13%], p=0.09). None of the participants had been diagnosed with a UTI in the past 6 months or were on antibiotics at the time of sample collection. Ethnicity was as follows: 12 (60%) White, 3 (15%) Hispanic, 2 (10%) Filipino, 1 (5%) Black, 1 (5%) Arabic and 1 (5%) Chinese. For females, median age of menarche was 13 years (n=12, IQR 12-14) and for menopause it was 50 years (n=3, IQR 48-50).

3.2 Flow cytometry

Participants had a median urine cell concentration of 16.80 cells/ μ L (IQR 3.74-63.24), with 41.68 cells/ μ L in females and 4.97 cells/ μ L in males (p=0.03). Within these urothelial cells, imaging flow cytometry was able to visualize and quantify intracellular bacteria in 100% of subjects. The median concentration of urothelial cells containing intracellular bacterial communities (IBCs) was 1.54 cells with IBCs/ μ L (IQR 0.26-17.07), with 0.61 for males and 4.89 in females (p=0.03). This translated to a median of 13.9% (IQR 4.18-29.09) of urothelial cells containing bacteria. The proportion was similar between sexes with 12.6% in females and 15.7% in males (p=0.65).

3.3 Scanning electron microscopy

Presence of structures compatible with bacteria were found in processed urine pellet specimens of all participants (20/20, 100%) (**Figure 1**). Looking at the morphology of bacteria we found structures compatible with bacilli, measuring around 0.5-1.0 μ m in width by 1.0-4.0 μ m in length, in 19/20 (95%) participants. Structures compatible with cocci, measuring around 0.5-1.0 μ m in diameter, were found in 17/20 (85%) participants. Combining the two together, we visualized structures consistent with polymicrobial communities in 16/20 (80%) participants (**Figure 2**). Structurally, we found evidence of bacteria embedded in a polymeric extracellular matrix in 20/20 (100%) of participants.



Figure 1. Example scanning electron microscope (SEM) photos of bacterial aggregates from each subject. A gold antibody was used to make Enterobacteriaceae more visible. Presence of both cocci and bacilli can be seem in all subjects and the bacteria appear to be attached to biofilm-like surfaces.



Figure 2. Example scanning electron microscope (SEM) photos of bacterial aggregates from each subject demonstrating either the presence of bacilli (orange) or cocci (blue), or both.

3.4 Microbiome analysis

We found significant correlation between the concentration of DNA obtained from cell pellets and the number of urothelial cells containing bacteria (p<0.0001) but not with the cell-free samples (p=0.78) (**Figure 3**).



Figure 3. A plot of number of urothelial cells containing intracellular bacterial communities versus the quantity of bacterial DNA that was extracted from the sample. There is a strong correction when looking at the sonicated cell pellet, but there was no correlation with the cell-free DNA.

Metagenomic analysis revealed multiple differences between the cell-free and cell pellet samples. Cell pellet samples (intracellular component) overall had higher sequencing coverage, indicating a larger amount of DNA, while the cell-free samples had less sequencing coverage and a relatively higher amount of contaminant DNA (**Figure 4**). Cell-free samples had a much higher relative abundance of *Acinetobacter* while the pellet samples had more, among other, *Peptoniphilus, Streptococcus, Finegoldia* and *Staphylococcus* (**Figure 5**).



Figure 4. Sequencing depth of samples pre (A) and post (B) filtering of contaminants. The cell-free samples have relatively less sample coverage and a therefore a higher proportion of contaminant DNA.



Figure 5. Relative abundances of genera of the cell-free and cell pellet samples. Subjects were sorted according to likeness of the cell-free samples.

Alpha diversity was significantly lower in the pellet samples in all four methods of measurement: observed, Chao, Shannon, and Simpson (p<0.001 for all) (**Figure 6**). When comparing males and females we see no significant difference in alpha diversity.



Figure 6. Alpha diversity boxplots of the cell-free and cell pellet samples measured 4 different ways. From left to right: Observed, Chao1, Shannon index and Simpson index. All 4 measures found significant differences between samples.

Beta diversity and dispersion also differed significantly between samples in both UniFrac (p<0.001) and Bray Curtis distances (p<0.001) (**Figure 7**). Sex-based differences in beta diversity were found with the female pellet samples being significantly different from both the male pellets and the cell-free samples of both sexes (p=0.001) (**Figures 8 and 9**).



Figure 7. Principle coordinate analysis (PCoA) plots showing beta diversity of the cell-free and cell pellet samples in A) weighted UniFrac distances and B) Bray Curtis distances. Both measures found significant differences between samples.



Figure 8. Principle coordinate analysis (PCoA) plots showing beta diversity of the cell-free and cell pellet samples divided by sex in A) weighted UniFrac distances and B) Bray Curtis distances. These measures found a difference between the male and female cell pellets but not cell-free samples.



Figure 9. Principle component analysis (PCA) plot showing the beta diversity of cell-free and cell pellet samples divided by sex. The top 10 most influential taxa for determining PCA coordinates are labeled.

Differential abundance analysis shows significant differences in several taxa with cell pellets containing more: *Streptococcus, Peptoniphilus, Finegoldia, Corynebacterium, Anaerococcus* and *Staphylococcus,* while cell-free samples had more: *Acinetobacter, Delftia, Brevundimonas, Comamonas, Allorhizobium-Neorhizobium-Pararhizobium-Rhizobium, Stenotrophomonas* and *Pseudomonas* (Figure 10 and Table 1). While there were no sex-based differences in the cell-free samples, female pellet samples contained more: *Dialister, Prevotella, Finegoldia, Peptoniphilus, Anaerococcus, Fusobacterium, Varibaculum, Howardella* and *Lawsonella,* but less: *Acinetobacter, Delftia, Comamonas, Brevundimonas, Stenotrophomonas and Pseudomonas* (Figure 11 and Table 2).



Total = 159 ASVs, differentially abundant = 12 ASVs

Figure 10. ANCOMBC2 volcano plot showing the differential abundance of the cell-free and cell pellet samples. Labelled taxa have significantly different abundances.

Table 1. Differential abundance of the cell-free and cell pellet samples. Log fold change (LFC) indicates how much more of a taxon was in the cell pellet (for example a value of 2 indicates that the cell pellet has 4x as much of the taxon). W statistic is a test statistic that is equal to LFC/standard error. The *P* value is obtained by using pairwise comparisons of the W statistic and the adjusted *P* value controls for the false discovery rate when performing multiple tests of hypotheses. Bolded *P* values are significant.

Toyon	Log fold change	Standard error	Watatistia	Dualua	Adjusted
Taxon Straptococcus	(SFC) in pellet 3.41	(SE) 0.53	W statistic 6.38	<i>P</i> value 1.83E-10	<i>P</i> value (q) 2.90E-08
Streptococcus					2.90E-08 1.40E-05
Peptoniphilus	3.04	0.57	5.35	8.90E-08	
Finegoldia	3.03	0.63	4.79	1.68E-06	2.58E-04
Corynebacterium	2.76	0.50	5.51	3.57E-08	5.64E-06
Anaerococcus	2.73	0.68	4.01	6.04E-05	9.07E-03
Staphylococcus	2.65	0.58	4.57	4.92E-06	7.48E-04
Pseudomonas	-1.23	0.33	-3.78	1.58E-04	2.35E-02
Stenotrophomonas	-1.45	0.33	-4.41	1.02E-05	1.55E-03
Allorhizobium- Neorhizobium- Pararhizobium- Rhizobium	-1.49	0.40	-3.76	1.70E-04	2.51E-02
Comamonas	-1.66	0.36	-4.58	4.57E-06	6.99E-04
Brevundimonas	-1.77	0.37	-4.81	1.54E-06	2.38E-04
Delftia	-2.61	0.52	-4.99	6.12E-07	9.54E-05



Total = 159 Genera, differentially abundant = 15 Genera

Figure 11. ANCOMBC2 volcano plot showing the differential abundances of the male and female cell pellet samples. Labelled taxa have significantly different abundances.

Table 2. Differential abundance of the male and female cell pellet samples. Log fold change (LFC) indicates how much more of a taxon was in the male cell pellet. W statistic is a test statistic that is equal to LFC/SE. The P value is obtained by using pairwise comparisons of the W statistic and the adjusted P value controls for the false discovery rate when performing multiple tests of hypotheses. Bolded P values are significant.

Toyon	Log fold change (LFC) male	Standard error	W	Dwalwa	Adjusted <i>P</i>
Taxon Acinetobacter	5.21	(SE) 0.63	statistic 8.23	<i>P</i> value 1.83E-16	value (q) 6.36E-15
Delftia	3.04	0.57	5.32	1.03E-07	3.57E-06
Comamonas	1.89	0.42	4.46	8.24E-06	2.86E-04
Brevundimonas	1.76	0.45	3.88	1.04E-04	3.61E-03
Stenotrophomonas	1.67	0.39	4.25	2.11E-05	7.32E-04
Allorhizobium- Neorhizobium- Pararhizobium- Rhizobium	1.45	0.53	2.73	6.25E-03	0.22
Pseudomonas	1.38	0.42	3.30	9.69E-04	0.03
Schumannella	1.36	0.45	3.03	2.48E-03	0.09
Shinella	1.25	0.43	2.92	3.56E-03	0.12
Staphylococcus	1.16	0.83	1.40	0.16	1.00
Streptococcus	0.88	0.77	1.14	0.25	1.00
Corynebacterium	-0.54	0.74	-0.73	0.47	1.00
Peptostreptococcus	-1.48	0.51	-2.89	3.81E-03	0.13
Lawsonella	-1.71	0.44	-3.89	1.01E-04	3.70E-03
Mobiluncus	-1.74	0.56	-3.10	1.96E-03	0.07
Howardella	-2.02	0.45	-4.47	7.98E-06	2.77E-04
Varibaculum	-2.19	0.49	-4.43	9.40E-06	3.26E-04
Fusobacterium	-2.50	0.61	-4.07	4.70E-05	1.72E-03
Anaerococcus	-3.53	0.82	-4.31	1.64E-05	5.69E-04
Lactobacillus	-3.74	1.27	-2.93	3.36E-03	0.12
Peptoniphilus	-3.75	0.56	-6.67	2.60E-11	9.04E-10
Finegoldia	-3.78	0.70	-5.42	5.89E-08	2.04E-06
Prevotella	-4.01	0.78	-5.14	2.78E-07	9.91E-06
Dialister	-4.21	0.63	-6.66	2.67E-11	9.81E-10

4. Discussion

4.1 Evidence of an intracellular microbiota within urothelial cells

The story of our current understanding of urinary microbiome persistence is one of extracellular bacteria. In this, bacteria remain within the urinary system through adaptations such as type 1 fimbriae, which allow physical attachment to the urothelial cells. One commonly cited bacterium that attaches this way is *E. coli*, though this is mainly described in the context of pathogenesis.¹³⁵ An inconsistency with this line of thinking is that *E. coli* makes up a minority of the urinary microbiome and this doesn't explain the large presence of bacteria without fimbriae.

Using flow cytometry, we were able to visualize intracellular bacteria within the urothelial cells of every subject. This was not a trivial number of intracellular bacteria either, as a median of 14% of urothelial cells contained bacteria. While we were unable to count the number of bacteria within each individual cell using flow cytometry, from visual inspection we can see that many urothelial cells contain what appear to be multiple bacteria (**Supplemental Figure 2**). When we visualize the samples using SEM, we can clearly see bacterial communities aggregated together and often embedded within or on top of a biofilm-like structure (**Figure 1**). That these bacteria remain aggregated despite sonication suggests that they are the same intracellular bacteria that were seen on flow cytometry and that these biofilm-like assemblies' act in a structural role.

Most urothelial cells remain within the bladder, but when the urothelial cells were exfoliated, we detected the polymicrobial communities within. From this, we extrapolate that the non-exfoliated cells also contain intracellular bacteria. Intracellular polymicrobial communities within biofilm-like structures is a possible explanation for the persistence of the urinary microbiome within the harsh environment of the urine. While this study was not designed to confirm the presence or molecular structure of these biofilm-like structures, the imaging is quite suggestive

(**Supplemental Figure 3**). Previous research has shown that intracellular biofilms consisting of polysaccharides and uroplakin allow pathogenic bacteria to persist and cause recurrent urinary tract infections, and it is likely that intracellular biofilms serve a similar role with commensal organisms.^{110,111} With SEM we can look at the morphology the bacteria and clearly see both rods and cocci in multiple subjects, suggestive of polymicrobial communities (**Figure 2**), which is confirmed by the metagenomic data.

Our findings of IBCs in every subject is in contrast to previous work done by Rosen et al.¹¹⁰ In 2007 the authors were unable to find IBCs in any of the asymptomatic subjects but they did find some in those with history of *E. coli* urinary tract infections. The discrepancy is due to several reasons. First, they only explored intracellular bacteria by immunofluorescence or SEM when bacterial aggregates were observed using light microscopy. Second, as they focused their research on *E. coli*, they used an anti-*E. coli* antibody. We used a more generic antibody (anti-Enterobacteriaceae common antigen), though there is reportedly some cross reactivity with the anti-*E. coli* antibody. Finally, the use of imaging flow cytometry allows for a more thorough and systematic assessment.

Overall, we find that the urinary microbiome of every individual, including males and those without previous UTIs, has a substantial portion that is intracellular within urothelial cells. This finding is significant in that it opens a new area that needs to be explored to fully understand the urinary microbiome. These intracellular bacteria within biofilm-like structures explain the urinary presence of non-pathogenic bacteria and those without fimbriae. It also offers a possible mechanism for asymptomatic bacteriuria and recurrent urinary tract infections. If we were to think of recurrent UTIs as a disease of microbiome dysbiosis, much like we do for *Clostridioides difficile* infections, then this would explain high rates of recurrence after antibiotic treatment and would also provide new targets for therapeutics development.⁷² Beyond the urinary tract, our findings have possible implications for microbiome research in other organ systems, for if commensal organisms can reside within urinary endothelial cells then the same may be true in the gastrointestinal or respiratory tracts.

4.2 DNA extraction targeting intracellular biofilms defines a distinct profile of the urine microbiome.

We can draw several conclusions from our division of the urine samples into the intracellular (cell pellet) and extracellular (cell-free). First, we found that there was a strong correlation (p<0.0001) between the amount of bacterial DNA in the cell pellet and the cellularity of the urine (**Figure 3**). The lack of correlation with the cell-free DNA indicates that most of the urinary microbiome is contained within urothelial cells. Metagenomic analysis reveals a similar finding

38

with the cell-free samples having significantly lower sequencing coverage than the pellets, and therefore a higher proportion of contaminant DNA (**Figure 4**).

Outside of sequencing coverage, there are also significant differences in the relative abundances, alpha diversity, beta diversity and differential abundance when comparing the cell-free and pellet samples. Interestingly, alpha diversity was lower in the cell pellet. An explanation for this is that the cell-free sample, with its lower sequencing coverage has a higher proportion of contaminant DNA than the pellet (though this study did include a negative control to account for this). Another possibility is that we are detecting microbial cell-free DNA from the blood. Recent advances in metagenomics have found that human blood contains microbial cell-free DNA in low amounts, even in healthy patients.¹³⁶ This microbial DNA is thought to be introduced through transient disruptions in epithelial barriers and doesn't necessarily represent active infection. We also know from applications such as fetal testing that cell-free DNA is capable of being filtered through the kidneys into urine.¹³⁷ Regardless, with the lower amount of cell-free DNA, the higher alpha diversity may represent the presence of a few non-significant bacteria, rather than a more relevant, diverse polymicrobial community. Beta diversity too differed between sample types, indicating that the intracellular microbiome is distinct from its extracellular component.

Looking into the relative abundances of individual taxa we see that the cell-free samples had more *Acinetobacter* while pellets contained more *Peptoniphilus, Streptococcus, Finegoldia* and *Staphylococcus.* These variations are also visible when looking at differential abundances (**Table 1**). For example, we see that there is 11 times more *Streptococcus*, and 8 times more of both *Peptoniphilus* and *Finegoldia* in cell pellets while *Delftia* is 6 times more common in cell-free urine.

Intestinal dysbiosis of *Streptococcus* species, a diverse group of bacteria, has been implicated in several medical conditions ranging from psoriasis to atherosclerosis.^{138,139} While we do not have the species level data on the *Streptococcus* in our participants' urinary microbiome, many *Streptococcus* species are known to form biofilms such as *S. mutans* on teeth and *S. pneumoniae* in the respiratory tract.^{140,141} Given this, it seems reasonable to hypothesize that similar biofilm processes are occurring within the urothelial cells of the bladder. Besides *Streptococcus*, the other common intracellular bacterial species of *Finegoldia* and *Peptoniphilus* have also been

39

described forming biofilms^{142–144}. Curiously, *Delftia*, a species seen more in cell-free samples, has also been associated with biofilm formation but conversely, it can also interfere with quorum sensing and biofilm formation.^{145,146}

Important to note is the underrepresentation of certain uropathogens. Our analysis shows that there is minimal *Klebsiella* and *Proteus* while a few subjects have a significant amount of *Escherichia-Shigella* in their cell pellets (**Figure 5** – subjects 001 and 019). This is in keeping with previous research which has shown that *E. coli*, specifically UPEC, can form intracellular bacterial communities.^{110–113} While we don't have the specific sequencing data to tell if the *Escherichia-Shigella* seen is UPEC or not, we know that neither subject had UTI at the time of sample collection and in fact neither subject (one male, and one female) had ever been diagnosed with a UTI. This re-affirms the idea that the presence of *Escherichia* species in urine does not always represent infection, and it also suggests that *Proteus* and *Klebsiella* species may play less of a role in the healthy urinary microbiome.

Altogether the results of this analysis indicate that the diversity of the intracellular component of the urine microbiome is quite distinct when compared to the extracellular component. We found that there is more bacterial DNA intracellularly and that specific genera of bacteria are more abundant intracellularly. This highlights the importance of the DNA extraction technique when performing any microbiome analysis. Going forward, further studies on the urinary microbiome should take this into account, lest they risk overlooking a fundamental aspect of the microbiome.

4.3 Sex-based differences of the urine microbiome

When we look at sex-based differences we find that while males and females have a similar proportion of urothelial cells containing bacteria (12.6% in females vs 15.7% in males), females overall had more intracellular bacteria (0.61 cells with IBC/ μ L in males vs 4.89 cells with IBC/ μ L in females) due to a more cellular urine (41.68 cells/ μ L in females vs 4.97 cells/ μ L in males). Although we now know that virtually every individual has bacteria in their urine at all times, previous studies found that females have a higher prevalence of asymptomatic bacteriuria (20-50% in females over 80 compared to 6-20% in males).

The concept of asymptomatic bacteriuria is now more of an artifact of microbiologic diagnostics rather than the lack of actual sterile urine. Females were thought to have more asymptomatic

bacteriuria because they had more bacteria in the urine on average, which therefor could be cultured more often. Estrogen has been shown to increase urothelial cell proliferation and a possible explanation for the higher number of bacteria in the urine of females is the increased number of urothelial cells (some of which contain bacteria), rather than anatomical differences such as a shorter urethra.¹⁴⁸ Together this leads to a possible model for asymptomatic bacteriuria where urothelial cells containing commensal intracellular bacteria are exfoliated, exposing the bacteria to the urine where they are available for culture (**Figure 12**).



Figure 12. A proposed model of the mechanism of urinary microbiome persistence. Bacteria live in polymicrobial aggregates within urothelial cells and can propagate between cells. When the urothelial cell is exfoliated or lysed, bacteria are released into the urine.

Beta diversity and differential abundance differed significantly between the cell pellets of males and females whereas there was no difference in the cell-free samples (**Figure 11**) (**Table 2**). For example, the female pellets contained 19 times more *Dialister* and 34 times less *Acinetobacter*.

Previous studies have found sex-based differences in differential abundances and a similar study by Pohl et al that assessed the urinary microbiome in asymptomatic males and females found that beta diversity differed but the genus that differed most significantly was *Lactobacillus* (they did find more *Streptococcus* in males but not reaching significance) ^{46,149,150}.

The lack of difference between male and female cell-free samples in our study again points towards the cell pellet samples being more of a true representation of the urinary microbiome and reinforces the idea that most of the urine microbiome is contained intracellularly. If the ascending model for UTIs/bacteriuria was the primary mechanism of bacterial acquisition, then we would expect the cell-free samples in males and females to differ in their diversity, given the anatomical differences. This is not the case, and it suggests that differing intracellular bacteria are the cause for sex-based differences, rather than anatomy. As to why females and males have different intracellular urinary microbiomes, further research is needed. Some possible explanations include antibiotic use due to previous UTIs (50% of females in this study) and hormonal differences.

By including intracellular bacteria into our understanding of the urinary microbiome, we can get a more accurate understanding of sex-based differences in the microbiome. Doing so, we can draw connections from the dysbiosis of certain taxa microbiome-associated conditions, some of which are more prevalent in females (i.e., interstitial cystitis, urgency urinary incontinence and urinary tract infections).^{50,65,72}

4.4 Limitations

This study did have several limitations. Samples were collected from first-catch or midstream and not from a transurethral catheter or suprapubic aspiration. In theory this could introduce some contamination, but previous studies have found that the differences between midstream voiding and sterile catheterization are minimal.^{150,151} In fact, data from this study shows that the amount of DNA introduced from the urethra (which would have been part of the cell-free sample) is minimal compared to the DNA contained within urothelial cells.

Another minor aspect is the heterogeneity between the timing of urine samples - some were first void, while others were collected later in the day. In urine there can be some small variations

42

between the microbiome of first-catch and midstream urine, but there is no evidence of diurnal microbiome changes such as in the intestinal microbiome.^{152,153}

SEM was used as an exploratory/screening method to identify bacterial communities. Without using an automated detection system, we were bound to miss some examples of bacteria and polymicrobial communities. This is likely why we did not visualize polymicrobial communities in 100% of participants despite the 16S sequencing indicating otherwise. In addition, we used an anti-ECA antibody which can detect many gram-negative bacteria, but gram-positive bacteria such as *Lactobacillus* and *Streptococcus* sp. would have been underrepresented in flow cytometry as well as the SEM images. This underrepresentation could explain why cocci, which are more likely to be gram-positive, were not seen in the SEM of all participants.

The study was not designed to determine the composition of the biofilm-like structures and therefore we cannot definitively call them biofilms. Further research will be needed in this area. In addition, while imaging flow cytometry can confirm the presence of intracellular bacteria, it cannot tell us how many bacteria are within each cell.

5. Conclusion

We recruited 20 participants with a variety of ages and diverse backgrounds who had not had a UTI in the previous 6 months. Overall, we found evidence of an intracellular component of the urinary microbiome within every participant. Commensal intracellular bacteria were found together in polymicrobial communities, often embedded within a biofilm-like structure. This was not a rare occurrence, as 14% of urothelial cells were found to contain bacteria and the amount of bacterial DNA correlated only with the intracellular component, and not the extracellular. There were significant differences in alpha diversity, beta diversity, relative abundance, and differential abundance when the extracellular and intracellular urine components were compared. A large intracellular component could explain how the urine microbiome is able to persist within the human urinary tract which flushes itself multiple times a day.

Sex-based differences were also identified, with females having a higher number of shed urothelial cells containing bacteria (though a similar proportion), and it is possible that this could explain differences in the prevalence of asymptomatic bacteriuria. Beta diversity and differential abundance differed significantly between the intracellular components of males and females. Future studies could use these differences to explain sex-based differences in prevalences of various urologic conditions.

This is the first-time intracellular bacteria have been described in the urine of healthy individuals, representing a breakthrough in our understanding of the urinary microbiome. In addition, an important takeaway from this study was that the method of DNA extraction in microbiome analysis plays a massive role in any potential findings. Future studies on the human microbiome in any location should consider evaluating for intracellular bacteria.

6. Works Cited

- 1. Turnbaugh PJ, Ley RE, Hamady M, Fraser-Liggett CM, Knight R, Gordon JI. The Human Microbiome Project. *Nature*. 2007;449(7164):804-810. doi:10.1038/nature06244
- 2. Sender R, Fuchs S, Milo R. Are We Really Vastly Outnumbered? Revisiting the Ratio of Bacterial to Host Cells in Humans. *Cell*. 2016;164(3):337-340. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2016.01.013
- Dominguez-Bello MG, Costello EK, Contreras M, et al. Delivery mode shapes the acquisition and structure of the initial microbiota across multiple body habitats in newborns. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S* A. 2010;107(26):11971-11975. doi:10.1073/pnas.1002601107
- 4. Stinson LF, Payne MS, Keelan JA. A Critical Review of the Bacterial Baptism Hypothesis and the Impact of Cesarean Delivery on the Infant Microbiome. *Frontiers in Medicine*. 2018;5.
- 5. Perez-Muñoz ME, Arrieta MC, Ramer-Tait AE, Walter J. A critical assessment of the "sterile womb" and "in utero colonization" hypotheses: implications for research on the pioneer infant microbiome. *Microbiome*. 2017;5(1):48. doi:10.1186/s40168-017-0268-4
- 6. Goodrich JK, Waters JL, Poole AC, et al. Human genetics shape the gut microbiome. *Cell*. 2014;159(4):789-799. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2014.09.053
- 7. Reese AT, Dunn RR. Drivers of Microbiome Biodiversity: A Review of General Rules, Feces, and Ignorance. *mBio*. 2018;9(4):e01294-18. doi:10.1128/mBio.01294-18
- 8. David LA, Maurice CF, Carmody RN, et al. Diet rapidly and reproducibly alters the human gut microbiome. *Nature*. 2014;505(7484):559-563. doi:10.1038/nature12820
- 9. Human Microbiome Project Consortium. Structure, function and diversity of the healthy human microbiome. *Nature*. 2012;486(7402):207-214. doi:10.1038/nature11234
- Kaoutari AE, Armougom F, Gordon JI, Raoult D, Henrissat B. The abundance and variety of carbohydrate-active enzymes in the human gut microbiota. *Nat Rev Microbiol*. 2013;11(7):497-504. doi:10.1038/nrmicro3050
- 11. Wong JMW, de Souza R, Kendall CWC, Emam A, Jenkins DJA. Colonic health: fermentation and short chain fatty acids. *J Clin Gastroenterol*. 2006;40(3):235-243. doi:10.1097/00004836-200603000-00015
- 12. Smith PM, Howitt MR, Panikov N, et al. The Microbial Metabolites, Short-Chain Fatty Acids, Regulate Colonic Treg Cell Homeostasis. *Science*. 2013;341(6145):569-573. doi:10.1126/science.1241165
- 13. LeBlanc JG, Milani C, de Giori GS, Sesma F, van Sinderen D, Ventura M. Bacteria as vitamin suppliers to their host: a gut microbiota perspective. *Current Opinion in Biotechnology*. 2013;24(2):160-168. doi:10.1016/j.copbio.2012.08.005

- 14. Kemnic TR, Coleman M. Trimethoprim Sulfamethoxazole. In: *StatPearls*. StatPearls Publishing; 2023. Accessed March 31, 2023. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK513232/
- 15. Weingarden A, González A, Vázquez-Baeza Y, et al. Dynamic changes in short- and long-term bacterial composition following fecal microbiota transplantation for recurrent *Clostridium difficile* infection. *Microbiome*. 2015;3:10. doi:10.1186/s40168-015-0070-0
- 16. Millan B, Park H, Hotte N, et al. Fecal Microbial Transplants Reduce Antibiotic-resistant Genes in Patients With Recurrent *Clostridium difficile* Infection. *Clin Infect Dis.* 2016;62(12):1479-1486. doi:10.1093/cid/ciw185
- Zhang F, Luo W, Shi Y, Fan Z, Ji G. Should we standardize the 1,700-year-old fecal microbiota transplantation? *Am J Gastroenterol*. 2012;107(11):1755; author reply p.1755-1756. doi:10.1038/ajg.2012.251
- van Nood E, Vrieze A, Nieuwdorp M, et al. Duodenal Infusion of Donor Feces for Recurrent *Clostridium difficile. New England Journal of Medicine*. 2013;368(5):407-415. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1205037
- McDonald LC, Gerding DN, Johnson S, et al. Clinical Practice Guidelines for *Clostridium difficile* Infection in Adults and Children: 2017 Update by the Infectious Diseases Society of America (IDSA) and Society for Healthcare Epidemiology of America (SHEA). *Clinical Infectious Diseases*. 2018;66(7):e1-e48. doi:10.1093/cid/cix1085
- 20. Khanna S, Assi M, Lee C, et al. Efficacy and Safety of RBX2660 in PUNCH CD3, a Phase III, Randomized, Double-Blind, Placebo-Controlled Trial with a Bayesian Primary Analysis for the Prevention of Recurrent *Clostridioides difficile* Infection. *Drugs*. 2022;82(15):1527-1538. doi:10.1007/s40265-022-01797-x
- 21. Shkoporov AN, Hill C. Bacteriophages of the Human Gut: The "Known Unknown" of the Microbiome. *Cell Host & Microbe*. 2019;25(2):195-209. doi:10.1016/j.chom.2019.01.017
- 22. Vangoitsenhoven R, Cresci GAM. Role of Microbiome and Antibiotics in Autoimmune Diseases. *Nutrition in Clinical Practice*. 2020;35(3):406-416. doi:10.1002/ncp.10489
- 23. Hapfelmeier S, Lawson MAE, Slack E, et al. Reversible microbial colonization of germ-free mice reveals the dynamics of IgA immune responses. *Science*. 2010;328(5986):1705-1709. doi:10.1126/science.1188454
- 24. Mazmanian SK, Liu CH, Tzianabos AO, Kasper DL. An immunomodulatory molecule of symbiotic bacteria directs maturation of the host immune system. *Cell*. 2005;122(1):107-118. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2005.05.007
- 25. Ganal SC, Sanos SL, Kallfass C, et al. Priming of natural killer cells by nonmucosal mononuclear phagocytes requires instructive signals from commensal microbiota. *Immunity*. 2012;37(1):171-186. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2012.05.020

- 26. Tan TG, Sefik E, Geva-Zatorsky N, et al. Identifying species of symbiont bacteria from the human gut that, alone, can induce intestinal Th17 cells in mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2016;113(50):E8141-E8150. doi:10.1073/pnas.1617460113
- 27. Dicksved J, Halfvarson J, Rosenquist M, et al. Molecular analysis of the gut microbiota of identical twins with Crohn's disease. *ISME J*. 2008;2(7):716-727. doi:10.1038/ismej.2008.37
- 28. Bibiloni R, Fedorak RN, Tannock GW, et al. VSL#3 probiotic-mixture induces remission in patients with active ulcerative colitis. *Am J Gastroenterol*. 2005;100(7):1539-1546. doi:10.1111/j.1572-0241.2005.41794.x
- 29. Colman RJ, Rubin DT. Fecal microbiota transplantation as therapy for inflammatory bowel disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Crohns Colitis*. 2014;8(12):1569-1581. doi:10.1016/j.crohns.2014.08.006
- 30. Groot P de, Nikolic T, Pellegrini S, et al. Faecal microbiota transplantation halts progression of human new-onset type 1 diabetes in a randomised controlled trial. *Gut*. 2021;70(1):92-105. doi:10.1136/gutjnl-2020-322630
- Aoun A, Darwish F, Hamod N. The Influence of the Gut Microbiome on Obesity in Adults and the Role of Probiotics, Prebiotics, and Synbiotics for Weight Loss. *Prev Nutr Food Sci.* 2020;25(2):113-123. doi:10.3746/pnf.2020.25.2.113
- 32. Liu R, Hong J, Xu X, et al. Gut microbiome and serum metabolome alterations in obesity and after weight-loss intervention. *Nat Med.* 2017;23(7):859-868. doi:10.1038/nm.4358
- 33. Koutnikova H, Genser B, Monteiro-Sepulveda M, et al. Impact of bacterial probiotics on obesity, diabetes and non-alcoholic fatty liver disease related variables: a systematic review and metaanalysis of randomised controlled trials. *BMJ Open*. 2019;9(3):e017995. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2017-017995
- Rose C, Parker A, Jefferson B, Cartmell E. The Characterization of Feces and Urine: A Review of the Literature to Inform Advanced Treatment Technology. *Crit Rev Environ Sci Technol*. 2015;45(17):1827-1879. doi:10.1080/10643389.2014.1000761
- 35. Armstrong JA. Urinalysis in Western culture: A brief history. *Kidney International*. 2007;71(5):384-387. doi:10.1038/sj.ki.5002057
- 36. Thomas-White K, Brady M, Wolfe AJ, Mueller ER. The bladder is not sterile: History and current discoveries on the urinary microbiome. *Curr Bladder Dysfunct Rep*. 2016;11(1):18-24. doi:10.1007/s11884-016-0345-8
- 37. Ipe DS, Horton E, Ulett GC. The Basics of Bacteriuria: Strategies of Microbes for Persistence in Urine. *Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology*. 2016;6:14-14. doi:10.3389/fcimb.2016.00014
- 38. Kass EH. Asymptomatic infections of the urinary tract. Trans Assoc Am Physicians. 1956;69:56-64.
- 39. Wolfe AJ, Toh E, Shibata N, et al. Evidence of Uncultivated Bacteria in the Adult Female Bladder. *J Clin Microbiol.* 2012;50(4):1376-1383. doi:10.1128/JCM.05852-11

- 40. Tang J. Microbiome in the urinary system—a review. *AIMS Microbiol*. 2017;3(2):143-154. doi:10.3934/microbiol.2017.2.143
- 41. Hilt EE, McKinley K, Pearce MM, et al. Urine is not sterile: use of enhanced urine culture techniques to detect resident bacterial flora in the adult female bladder. *J Clin Microbiol*. 2014;52(3):871-876. doi:10.1128/JCM.02876-13
- 42. Lüthje P, Brauner H, Ramos NL, et al. Estrogen supports urothelial defense mechanisms. *Sci Transl Med.* 2013;5(190):190ra80. doi:10.1126/scitranslmed.3005574
- 43. Wang C, Symington JW, Ma E, Cao B, Mysorekar IU. Estrogenic modulation of uropathogenic *Escherichia coli* infection pathogenesis in a murine menopause model. *Infect Immun*. 2013;81(3):733-739. doi:10.1128/IAI.01234-12
- 44. Lewis D, Brown RC, Williams J, et al. The human urinary microbiome; bacterial DNA in voided urine of asymptomatic adults. *Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology*. 2013;3:41-41. doi:10.3389/fcimb.2013.00041
- 45. Siddiqui H, Nederbragt AJ, Lagesen K, Jeansson SL, Jakobsen KS. Assessing diversity of the female urine microbiota by high throughput sequencing of 16S rDNA amplicons. *BMC Microbiol*. 2011;11(1):244. doi:10.1186/1471-2180-11-244
- 46. Aragón IM, Herrera-Imbroda B, Queipo-Ortuño MI, et al. The Urinary Tract Microbiome in Health and Disease. *European urology focus*. 2016;4(1):128-138. doi:10.1016/j.euf.2016.11.001
- 47. Reid G, Younes JA, Van der Mei HC, Gloor GB, Knight R, Busscher HJ. Microbiota restoration: natural and supplemented recovery of human microbial communities. *Nat Rev Microbiol*. 2011;9(1):27-38. doi:10.1038/nrmicro2473
- 48. Cadieux PA, Burton J, Devillard E, Reid G. *Lactobacillus* by-products inhibit the growth and virulence of uropathogenic Escherichia coli. *J Physiol Pharmacol.* 2009;60 Suppl 6:13-18.
- 49. Aagaard K, Ma J, Antony KM, Ganu R, Petrosino J, Versalovic J. The placenta harbors a unique microbiome. *Sci Transl Med*. 2014;6(237):237ra65. doi:10.1126/scitranslmed.3008599
- 50. Karstens L, Asquith M, Davin S, et al. Does the Urinary Microbiome Play a Role in Urgency Urinary Incontinence and Its Severity. *Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology*. 2016;6:78-78. doi:10.3389/fcimb.2016.00078
- 51. Pearce MM, Hilt EE, Rosenfeld AB, et al. The Female Urinary Microbiome: a Comparison of Women with and without Urgency Urinary Incontinence. *mBio*. 2014;5(4):e01283-14. doi:10.1128/mBio.01283-14
- 52. Thomas-White K, Hilt EE, Fok CS, et al. Incontinence medication response relates to the female urinary microbiota. *International Urogynecology Journal*. 2016;27(5):723-733. doi:10.1007/s00192-015-2847-x

- 53. Patel SR, Ingram C, Scovell JM, Link RE, Mayer WA. The Microbiome and Urolithiasis: Current Advancements and Future Challenges. *Curr Urol Rep.* 2022;23(3):47-56. doi:10.1007/s11934-022-01088-8
- 54. Griffith DP. Struvite stones. Kidney International. 1978;13(5):372-382. doi:10.1038/ki.1978.55
- 55. Siener R, Bangen U, Sidhu H, Hönow R, von Unruh GE, Hesse A. The role of *Oxalobacter formigenes* colonization in calcium oxalate stone disease. *Kidney International*. 2013;83(6):1144-1149. doi:10.1038/ki.2013.104
- Kaufman DW, Kelly JP, Curhan GC, et al. Oxalobacter formigenes May Reduce the Risk of Calcium Oxalate Kidney Stones. Journal of the American Society of Nephrology. 2008;19(6):1197. doi:10.1681/ASN.2007101058
- 57. Zampini A, Nguyen AH, Rose E, Monga M, Miller AW. Defining Dysbiosis in Patients with Urolithiasis. *Sci Rep.* 2019;9(1):5425. doi:10.1038/s41598-019-41977-6
- Chutipongtanate S, Sutthimethakorn S, Chiangjong W, Thongboonkerd V. Bacteria can promote calcium oxalate crystal growth and aggregation. *J Biol Inorg Chem.* 2013;18(3):299-308. doi:10.1007/s00775-012-0974-0
- 59. Dornbier RA, Bajic P, Van Kuiken M, et al. The microbiome of calcium-based urinary stones. *Urolithiasis*. 2020;48(3):191-199. doi:10.1007/s00240-019-01146-w
- 60. de Martel C, Ferlay J, Franceschi S, et al. Global burden of cancers attributable to infections in 2008: a review and synthetic analysis. *The Lancet Oncology*. 2012;13(6):607-615. doi:10.1016/S1470-2045(12)70137-7
- 61. Arthur JC, Perez-Chanona E, Mühlbauer M, et al. Intestinal Inflammation Targets Cancer-Inducing Activity of the Microbiota. *Science*. 2012;338(6103):120-123. doi:10.1126/science.1224820
- 62. Xu W, Yang L, Lee P, et al. Review Article Mini-review: perspective of the microbiome in the pathogenesis of urothelial carcinoma. *American journal of clinical and experimental urology*. Published online January 1, 2014.
- 63. Bučević Popović V, Šitum M, Chow CET, Chan LS, Roje B, Terzić J. The urinary microbiome associated with bladder cancer. *Sci Rep.* 2018;8(1):12157. doi:10.1038/s41598-018-29054-w
- 64. Wu P, Zhang G, Zhao J, et al. Profiling the Urinary Microbiota in Male Patients With Bladder Cancer in China. *Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology*. 2018;8.
- 65. Bschleipfer T, Isabell Karl. Bladder Microbiome in the Context of Urological Disorders—Is There a Biomarker Potential for Interstitial Cystitis? 2022;12(2):281-281. doi:10.3390/diagnostics12020281
- Siddiqui H, Lagesen K, Nederbragt AJ, Jeansson S, Stig Jeansson, Jakobsen KS. Alterations of microbiota in urine from women with interstitial cystitis. *BMC Microbiology*. 2012;12(1):205-205. doi:10.1186/1471-2180-12-205

- 67. Abernethy MG, Rosenfeld A, White JR, Mueller MG, Lewicky-Gaupp C, Kenton K. Urinary Microbiome and Cytokine Levels in Women With Interstitial Cystitis. *Obstet Gynecol*. 2017;129(3):500-506. doi:10.1097/AOG.00000000001892
- 68. Nickel JC, Stephens-Shields AJ, Landis JR, et al. A Culture-Independent Analysis of the Microbiota of Female Interstitial Cystitis/Bladder Pain Syndrome Participants in the MAPP Research Network. *Journal of Clinical Medicine*. 2019;8(3):415. doi:10.3390/jcm8030415
- 69. Meriwether KV, Lei Z, Singh R, Gaskins J, Hobson DTG, Jala V. The Vaginal and Urinary Microbiomes in Premenopausal Women With Interstitial Cystitis/Bladder Pain Syndrome as Compared to Unaffected Controls: A Pilot Cross-Sectional Study. *Front Cell Infect Microbiol*. 2019;9:92. doi:10.3389/fcimb.2019.00092
- Bresler L, Price TK, Hilt EE, Joyce C, Fitzgerald CM, Wolfe AJ. Female lower urinary tract microbiota do not associate with IC/PBS symptoms: a case-controlled study. *Int Urogynecol J*. 2019;30(11):1835-1842. doi:10.1007/s00192-019-03942-9
- Bao Y, Welk B, Reid G, Burton JP. Role of the microbiome in recurrent urinary tract infection. In: Novel Insights into Urinary Tract Infections and Their Management. Future Medicine Ltd; 2014:48-59. doi:10.2217/fmeb2013.13.236
- 72. Foxman B. Recurring urinary tract infection: incidence and risk factors. *Am J Public Health*. 1990;80(3):331-333. doi:10.2105/ajph.80.3.331
- 73. Foxman B. Epidemiology of urinary tract infections: incidence, morbidity, and economic costs. *Am J Med.* 2002;113 Suppl 1A:5S-13S. doi:10.1016/s0002-9343(02)01054-9
- 74. Miller-Ensminger T, Garretto A, Brenner J, et al. Bacteriophages of the Urinary Microbiome. *Journal of Bacteriology*. 2018;200(7):e00738-17. doi:10.1128/JB.00738-17
- 75. Biehl LM, Cruz Aguilar R, Farowski F, et al. Fecal microbiota transplantation in a kidney transplant recipient with recurrent urinary tract infection. *Infection*. 2018;46(6):871-874. doi:10.1007/s15010-018-1190-9
- 76. Davido B, Batista R, Fessi H, et al. Fecal microbiota transplantation to eradicate vancomycinresistant enterococci colonization in case of an outbreak. *Med Mal Infect*. 2019;49(3):214-218. doi:10.1016/j.medmal.2018.11.002
- 77. Grosen AK, Povlsen JV, Lemming LE, Jørgensen SMD, Dahlerup JF, Hvas CL. Faecal Microbiota Transplantation Eradicated Extended-Spectrum Beta-Lactamase-Producing *Klebsiella pneumoniae* from a Renal Transplant Recipient with Recurrent Urinary Tract Infections. *CND*. 2019;9(2):102-107. doi:10.1159/000502336
- Kaye KS, Gupta V, Mulgirigama A, et al. Antimicrobial Resistance Trends in Urine Escherichia coli Isolates From Adult and Adolescent Females in the United States From 2011 to 2019: Rising ESBL Strains and Impact on Patient Management. Clinical Infectious Diseases. 2021;73(11):1992-1999. doi:10.1093/cid/ciab560

- 79. Flemming HC, Wingender J, Szewzyk U, Steinberg P, Rice SA, Kjelleberg S. Biofilms: an emergent form of bacterial life. *Nat Rev Microbiol*. 2016;14(9):563-575. doi:10.1038/nrmicro.2016.94
- 80. Flemming HC, Wingender J. The biofilm matrix. *Nat Rev Microbiol*. 2010;8(9):623-633. doi:10.1038/nrmicro2415
- 81. Serra DO, Richter AM, Hengge R. Cellulose as an Architectural Element in Spatially Structured Escherichia coli Biofilms. *J Bacteriol*. 2013;195(24):5540-5554. doi:10.1128/JB.00946-13
- 82. Devaraj A, Justice SS, Bakaletz LO, Goodman SD. DNABII proteins play a central role in UPEC biofilm structure. *Mol Microbiol*. 2015;96(6):1119-1135. doi:10.1111/mmi.12994
- Hobley L, Harkins C, MacPhee CE, Stanley-Wall NR. Giving structure to the biofilm matrix: an overview of individual strategies and emerging common themes. *FEMS Microbiol Rev*. 2015;39(5):649-669. doi:10.1093/femsre/fuv015
- Singer SW, Erickson BK, VerBerkmoes NC, et al. Posttranslational modification and sequence variation of redox-active proteins correlate with biofilm life cycle in natural microbial communities. *ISME J.* 2010;4(11):1398-1409. doi:10.1038/ismej.2010.64
- 85. Daddi Oubekka S, Briandet R, Fontaine-Aupart MP, Steenkeste K. Correlative Time-Resolved Fluorescence Microscopy To Assess Antibiotic Diffusion-Reaction in Biofilms. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy*. 2012;56(6):3349-3358. doi:10.1128/AAC.00216-12
- 86. Amato SM, Fazen CH, Henry TC, et al. The role of metabolism in bacterial persistence. *Front Microbiol*. 2014;5:70. doi:10.3389/fmicb.2014.00070
- 87. Antony van Leeuwenhoek and his "Little Animals." Being Some Account of the Father of Protozoology and Bacteriology and his Multifarious Discoveries in these Disciplines. Collected, Translated, and Edited, from his Printed Works, Unpublished Manuscripts, and Contemporary Records. Published on the 300th Anniversary of his Birth. Accessed April 7, 2023. https://wwwcabdirect-org.login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/cabdirect/abstract/19322902061
- 88. Boles BR, Thoendel M, Singh PK. Self-generated diversity produces "insurance effects" in biofilm communities. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2004;101(47):16630-16635. doi:10.1073/pnas.0407460101
- 89. de Vos WM. Microbial biofilms and the human intestinal microbiome. *NPJ Biofilms Microbiomes*. 2015;1:15005. doi:10.1038/npjbiofilms.2015.5
- O'May GA, Jacobsen SM, Stickler DJ, Mobley HLT, Shirtliff ME. Complicated Urinary Tract Infections due to Catheters. In: Shirtliff M, Leid JG, eds. *The Role of Biofilms in Device-Related Infections*. Springer Series on Biofilms. Springer; 2009:123-165. doi:10.1007/978-3-540-68119-9_6
- 91. Trautner BW, Hull RA, Darouiche RO. Colicins prevent colonization of urinary catheters. *Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy*. 2005;56(2):413-415. doi:10.1093/jac/dki228
- 92. Lebeer S, Verhoeven TLA, Claes IJJ, et al. FISH analysis of *Lactobacillus* biofilms in the gastrointestinal tract of different hosts. *Lett Appl Microbiol*. 2011;52(3):220-226. doi:10.1111/j.1472-765X.2010.02994.x

- Frese SA, Mackenzie DA, Peterson DA, et al. Molecular characterization of host-specific biofilm formation in a vertebrate gut symbiont. *PLoS Genet*. 2013;9(12):e1004057. doi:10.1371/journal.pgen.1004057
- 94. Croucher SC, Houston AP, Bayliss CE, Turner RJ. Bacterial populations associated with different regions of the human colon wall. *Appl Environ Microbiol*. 1983;45(3):1025-1033. doi:10.1128/aem.45.3.1025-1033.1983
- 95. Swidsinski A, Weber J, Loening-Baucke V, Hale LP, Lochs H. Spatial organization and composition of the mucosal flora in patients with inflammatory bowel disease. *J Clin Microbiol*. 2005;43(7):3380-3389. doi:10.1128/JCM.43.7.3380-3389.2005
- Mandakhalikar KD, Rahmat JN, Chiong E, Neoh KG, Shen L, Tambyah PA. Extraction and quantification of biofilm bacteria: Method optimized for urinary catheters. *Sci Rep.* 2018;8(1):8069. doi:10.1038/s41598-018-26342-3
- Kobayashi H, Oethinger M, Tuohy MJ, Procop GW, Bauer TW. Improved Detection of Biofilmformative Bacteria by Vortexing and Sonication: A Pilot Study. *Clin Orthop Relat Res*. 2009;467(5):1360-1364. doi:10.1007/s11999-008-0609-5
- Holinka J, Bauer L, Hirschl AM, et al. Sonication cultures of explanted components as an add-on test to routinely conducted microbiological diagnostics improve pathogen detection. *Journal of Orthopaedic Research*. 2011;29(4):617-622. doi:10.1002/jor.21286
- 99. Hunstad DA, Justice SS. Intracellular lifestyles and immune evasion strategies of uropathogenic Escherichia coli. *Annu Rev Microbiol.* 2010;64:203-221. doi:10.1146/annurev.micro.112408.134258
- 100. Hagberg L, Hull R, Hull S, McGhee JR, Michalek SM, Svanborg Edén C. Difference in susceptibility to gram-negative urinary tract infection between C3H/HeJ and C3H/HeN mice. *Infection and Immunity*. 1984;46(3):839-844. doi:10.1128/iai.46.3.839-844.1984
- 101. Ragnarsdóttir B, Samuelsson M, Gustafsson MCU, Leijonhufvud I, Karpman D, Svanborg C. Reduced Toll-Like Receptor 4 Expression in Children with Asymptomatic Bacteriuria. *The Journal of Infectious Diseases*. 2007;196(3):475-484. doi:10.1086/518893
- 102. Ashkar AA, Mossman KL, Coombes BK, Gyles CL, Mackenzie R. FimH adhesin of type 1 fimbriae is a potent inducer of innate antimicrobial responses which requires TLR4 and type 1 interferon signalling. *PLoS Pathog*. 2008;4(12):e1000233. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1000233
- 103. Andersen-Nissen E, Hawn TR, Smith KD, et al. Cutting edge: Tlr5-/- mice are more susceptible to *Escherichia coli* urinary tract infection. *J Immunol*. 2007;178(8):4717-4720. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.178.8.4717
- 104. Russo TA, Stapleton A, Wenderoth S, Hooton TM, Stamm WE. Chromosomal Restriction Fragment Length Polymorphism Analysis of *Escherichia coli* Strains Causing Recurrent Urinary Tract Infections in Young Women. *The Journal of Infectious Diseases*. 1995;172(2):440-445. doi:10.1093/infdis/172.2.440

- 105. Cass AS, Ireland GW. Antibacterial perineal washing for prevention of recurrent urinary tract infections. *Urology*. 1985;25(5):492-494. doi:10.1016/0090-4295(85)90458-3
- 106. Bishop BL, Duncan MJ, Song J, Li G, Zaas D, Abraham SN. Cyclic AMP-regulated exocytosis of *Escherichia coli* from infected bladder epithelial cells. *Nat Med*. 2007;13(5):625-630. doi:10.1038/nm1572
- 107. Rosen DA, Pinkner JS, Jones JM, Walker JN, Clegg S, Hultgren SJ. Utilization of an Intracellular Bacterial Community Pathway in *Klebsiella pneumoniae* Urinary Tract Infection and the Effects of FimK on Type 1 Pilus Expression. *Infection and Immunity*. 2008;76(7):3337-3345. doi:10.1128/IAI.00090-08
- 108. Szabados F, Kleine B, Anders A, et al. *Staphylococcus saprophyticus* ATCC 15305 is internalized into human urinary bladder carcinoma cell line 5637. *FEMS Microbiology Letters*. 2008;285(2):163-169. doi:10.1111/j.1574-6968.2008.01218.x
- 109. Dodson KW, Jacob-Dubuisson F, Striker RT, Hultgren SJ. Outer-membrane PapC molecular usher discriminately recognizes periplasmic chaperone-pilus subunit complexes. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*. 1993;90(8):3670-3674. doi:10.1073/pnas.90.8.3670
- 110. Rosen DA, Hooton TM, Stamm WE, Humphrey PA, Hultgren SJ. Detection of Intracellular Bacterial Communities in Human Urinary Tract Infection. *PLOS Medicine*. 2007;4(12):e329. doi:10.1371/journal.pmed.0040329
- 111. Garofalo CK, Hooton TM, Martin SM, et al. *Escherichia coli* from Urine of Female Patients with Urinary Tract Infections Is Competent for Intracellular Bacterial Community Formation. *Infect Immun*. 2007;75(1):52-60. doi:10.1128/IAI.01123-06
- 112. Eto DS, Sundsbak JL, Mulvey MA. Actin-gated intracellular growth and resurgence of uropathogenic Escherichia coli. *Cell Microbiol.* 2006;8(4):704-717. doi:10.1111/j.1462-5822.2006.00691.x
- 113. Anderson GG, Palermo JJ, Schilling JD, Roth R, Heuser J, Hultgren SJ. Intracellular Bacterial Biofilm-Like Pods in Urinary Tract Infections. *Science*. 2003;301(5629):105-107. doi:10.1126/science.1084550
- 114. Anderson GG, Martin SM, Hultgren SJ. Host subversion by formation of intracellular bacterial communities in the urinary tract. *Microbes and Infection*. 2004;6(12):1094-1101. doi:10.1016/j.micinf.2004.05.023
- 115. Loughman JA, Hunstad DA. Attenuation of human neutrophil migration and function by uropathogenic bacteria. *Microbes and Infection*. 2011;13(6):555-565. doi:10.1016/j.micinf.2011.01.017
- 116. Schilling JD, Lorenz RG, Hultgren SJ. Effect of trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole on recurrent bacteriuria and bacterial persistence in mice infected with uropathogenic *Escherichia coli*. *Infect Immun*. 2002;70(12):7042-7049. doi:10.1128/IAI.70.12.7042-7049.2002

- 117. Pratt LA, Kolter R. Genetic analysis of *Escherichia coli* biofilm formation: roles of flagella, motility, chemotaxis and type I pili. *Molecular Microbiology*. 1998;30(2):285-293. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2958.1998.01061.x
- 118. Wright KJ, Seed PC, Hultgren SJ. Development of intracellular bacterial communities of uropathogenic *Escherichia coli* depends on type 1 pili. *Cellular Microbiology*. 2007;9(9):2230-2241. doi:10.1111/j.1462-5822.2007.00952.x
- 119. Beerepoot MAJ, ter Riet G, Nys S, et al. Lactobacilli vs antibiotics to prevent urinary tract infections: a randomized, double-blind, noninferiority trial in postmenopausal women. *Arch Intern Med*. 2012;172(9):704-712. doi:10.1001/archinternmed.2012.777
- 120. Reid G, Bruce AW, McGroarty JA, Cheng KJ, Costerton JW. Is there a role for lactobacilli in prevention of urogenital and intestinal infections? *Clin Microbiol Rev.* 1990;3(4):335-344.
- 121. Reid G, Bruce AW, Taylor M. Influence of three-day antimicrobial therapy and *lactobacillus* vaginal suppositories on recurrence of urinary tract infections. *Clin Ther*. 1992;14(1):11-16.
- 122. Grin PM, Kowalewska PM, Alhazzan W, Fox-Robichaud AE. *Lactobacillus* for preventing recurrent urinary tract infections in women: meta-analysis. *Can J Urol*. 2013;20(1):6607-6614.
- 123. Hull R, Rudy D, Donovan W, et al. Urinary tract infection prophylaxis using *escherichia coli* 83972 in spinal cord injured patients. *Journal of Urology*. 2000;163(3):872-877. doi:10.1016/S0022-5347(05)67823-8
- 124. Mirzaei R, Mohammadzadeh R, Sholeh M, et al. The importance of intracellular bacterial biofilm in infectious diseases. *Microbial Pathogenesis*. 2020;147:104393-104393. doi:10.1016/j.micpath.2020.104393
- 125. Lee JTY, Chow KL. SEM sample preparation for cells on 3D scaffolds by freeze-drying and HMDS. *Scanning*. 2012;34(1):12-25. doi:10.1002/sca.20271
- 126. Caporaso JG, Lauber CL, Walters WA, et al. Ultra-high-throughput microbial community analysis on the Illumina HiSeq and MiSeq platforms. *ISME J.* 2012;6(8):1621-1624. doi:10.1038/ismej.2012.8
- 127. Bittencourt SA. FastQC: a quality control tool for high throughput sequence data. Babraham Institute. Published 2010. Accessed December 3, 2023. https://www.scienceopen.com/document?vid=de674375-ab83-4595-afa9-4c8aa9e4e736
- 128. Martin M. Cutadapt removes adapter sequences from high-throughput sequencing reads. *EMBnet.journal*. 2011;17(1):10-12. doi:10.14806/ej.17.1.200
- 129. Edgar RC. Search and clustering orders of magnitude faster than BLAST. *Bioinformatics*. 2010;26(19):2460-2461. doi:10.1093/bioinformatics/btq461
- 130. Rognes T, Flouri T, Nichols B, Quince C, Mahé F. VSEARCH: a versatile open source tool for metagenomics. *PeerJ*. 2016;4:e2584. doi:10.7717/peerj.2584

- 131. Bokulich NA, Kaehler BD, Rideout JR, et al. Optimizing taxonomic classification of marker-gene amplicon sequences with QIIME 2's q2-feature-classifier plugin. *Microbiome*. 2018;6(1):90. doi:10.1186/s40168-018-0470-z
- 132. Kaehler BD, Bokulich NA, McDonald D, Knight R, Caporaso JG, Huttley GA. Species abundance information improves sequence taxonomy classification accuracy. *Nat Commun.* 2019;10(1):4643. doi:10.1038/s41467-019-12669-6
- 133. Janssen S, McDonald D, Gonzalez A, et al. Phylogenetic placement of exact amplicon sequences improves associations with clinical information. *mSystems*. 2018;3. doi:10.1128/mSystems.00021-18
- 134. Galloway-Peña J, Hanson B. Tools for Analysis of the Microbiome. *Dig Dis Sci*. 2020;65(3):674-685. doi:10.1007/s10620-020-06091-y
- 135. Sokurenko EV, Chesnokova V, Dykhuizen DE, et al. Pathogenic adaptation of *Escherichia coli* by natural variation of the FimH adhesin. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*. 1998;95(15):8922-8926. doi:10.1073/pnas.95.15.8922
- 136. Pietrzak B, Kawacka I, Olejnik-Schmidt A, Schmidt M. Circulating Microbial Cell-Free DNA in Health and Disease. *Int J Mol Sci.* 2023;24(3):3051. doi:10.3390/ijms24033051
- 137. Tsui NBY, Jiang P, Chow KCK, et al. High Resolution Size Analysis of Fetal DNA in the Urine of Pregnant Women by Paired-End Massively Parallel Sequencing. *PLOS ONE*. 2012;7(10):e48319. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0048319
- 138. Okada K, Matsushima Y, Mizutani K, Yamanaka K. The Role of Gut Microbiome in Psoriasis: Oral Administration of *Staphylococcus aureus* and *Streptococcus danieliae* Exacerbates Skin Inflammation of Imiquimod-Induced Psoriasis-Like Dermatitis. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*. 2020;21(9):3303. doi:10.3390/ijms21093303
- 139. Jie Z, Xia H, Zhong SL, et al. The gut microbiome in atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease. *Nat Commun.* 2017;8(1):845. doi:10.1038/s41467-017-00900-1
- 140. Domenech M, García E, Moscoso M. Biofilm formation in *Streptococcus pneumoniae*. *Microbial Biotechnology*. 2012;5(4):455-465. doi:10.1111/j.1751-7915.2011.00294.x
- 141. Garcia SS, Blackledge MS, Michalek S, et al. Targeting of *Streptococcus mutans* Biofilms by a Novel Small Molecule Prevents Dental Caries and Preserves the Oral Microbiome. *J Dent Res*. 2017;96(7):807-814. doi:10.1177/0022034517698096
- 142. Sarantis M, Argyrou C, Tzefronis D, Stasi S, Macheras G. Sonication Fluid Isolation of *Peptoniphilus* asaccharolyticus After Total Hip Arthroplasty. *Cureus*. 14(1):e21419. doi:10.7759/cureus.21419
- 143. Boyanova L, Markovska R, Mitov I. Virulence arsenal of the most pathogenic species among the Gram-positive anaerobic cocci, *Finegoldia magna*. *Anaerobe*. 2016;42:145-151. doi:10.1016/j.anaerobe.2016.10.007

- 144. Donelli G, Vuotto C, Cardines R, Mastrantonio P. Biofilm-growing intestinal anaerobic bacteria. *FEMS Immunology & Medical Microbiology*. 2012;65(2):318-325. doi:10.1111/j.1574-695X.2012.00962.x
- 145. Singh VK, Mishra A, Jha B. Anti-quorum Sensing and Anti-biofilm Activity of *Delftia tsuruhatensis* Extract by Attenuating the Quorum Sensing-Controlled Virulence Factor Production in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa. Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology*. 2017;7.
- 146. Afonso AC, Gomes IB, Saavedra MJ, C. Simões L, Simões M. Drinking-water isolated *Delftia acidovorans* selectively coaggregates with partner bacteria and facilitates multispecies biofilm development. *Science of The Total Environment*. 2023;875:162646. doi:10.1016/j.scitotenv.2023.162646
- 147. Luu T, Albarillo FS. Asymptomatic Bacteriuria: Prevalence, Diagnosis, Management, and Current Antimicrobial Stewardship Implementations. *The American Journal of Medicine*. 2022;135(8):e236-e244. doi:10.1016/j.amjmed.2022.03.015
- 148. Teng J, Wang ZY, Bjorling D. Stimulation of human urothelial cell proliferation by estrogen receptor activation. *Urology*. 2001;57(6, Supplement 1):102-103. doi:10.1016/S0090-4295(01)01023-8
- 149. Gottschick C, Deng ZL, Vital M, et al. The urinary microbiota of men and women and its changes in women during bacterial vaginosis and antibiotic treatment. *Microbiome*. 2017;5:99. doi:10.1186/s40168-017-0305-3
- 150. Pohl HG, Groah SL, Pérez-Losada M, et al. The Urine Microbiome of Healthy Men and Women Differs by Urine Collection Method. *Int Neurourol J.* 2020;24(1):41-51. doi:10.5213/inj.1938244.122
- 151. Hourigan SK, Zhu W, S.W.Wong W, et al. Studying the urine microbiome in superficial bladder cancer: samples obtained by midstream voiding versus cystoscopy. *BMC Urology*. 2020;20(1):5. doi:10.1186/s12894-020-0576-z
- 152. Hrbacek J, Morais D, Cermak P, Hanacek V, Zachoval R. Alpha-diversity and microbial community structure of the male urinary microbiota depend on urine sampling method. *Sci Rep*. 2021;11(1):23758. doi:10.1038/s41598-021-03292-x
- 153. Thaiss CA, Zeevi D, Levy M, Segal E, Elinav E. A day in the life of the meta-organism: diurnal rhythms of the intestinal microbiome and its host. *Gut Microbes*. 2015;6(2):137-142. doi:10.1080/19490976.2015.1016690

7. Appendix

Study ID#: Urine Microbiome Study Questionnaire (IBC-5) Demographics: Date of Birth (dd- mmm-yyyy): _____ _/__ / 🗆 Male 🛛 Female Sex at birth: Sex Now:
Male
Female Gender/currently self identify as: 🗆 Man 🛛 Woman 🔅 Non-binary, genderqueer, agender or a similar identity □ Two-spirit □ Prefer to self describe Prefer not to answer Race/ethnicity: Are you of Hispanic, Latino or Spanish origin? □ Yes - please select below 🗆 No 🗆 Mexican, Mexican American, Chicano 🗆 Cuban Puerto Rican Other (Please specify) How would you best describe yourself? □ White Guamanian or Chamorro 🗆 Black, African American 🗆 Filipino American Indian or Alaska native Vietnamese (Please specify Samoan tribe)_ Other Asian (Please specify) 🗆 Asian Indian Japanese Other Pacific Islander (Please specify) Native Hawaiian Chinese Other race (Please specify) 🗆 Korean Screening Questionnaire: 1) Have you ever been diagnosed with urinary tract infection? Π No □ Yes If yes, have you been diagnosed with, or taken antibiotics for a urinary tract infection (UTI) within the past 6 months? 🗆 No □ Yes 2) Are you taking any antibiotics (either for treatment of an infection or prophylaxis) currently? 🗆 No □ Yes 3) At what age did you have your first period? (if applicable): _ 4) At what age did you enter menopause (last period)? (if applicable): ____

Supplemental Figure 1. The questionnaire given to each patient upon enrolment into the study. Subjects currently on antibiotics or who had taken antibiotics for a UTI in the past 6 months were excluded from the study.



Supplemental Figure 2. Example of imaging flow cytometry images from a participant (ID001) demonstrating bacteria within urothelial cells. Green: uroplakin III; Red: Enterobacteriaceae common antigen (bacteria); Blue: nuclear stain



Supplemental Figure 3. SEM image showing remnants of aggregated bacteria inside a biofilm-like capsule.



are sorted according to likeness of the cell-free samples.